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Report and notes on some findings

20 April.  Norman Scarfe and Celia Jennings

Sotterley and Westhall

Sotlerley, St Margaret’s Church. Following A.G.M. held in church in Sotterley Park, Norman
Scarfe introduced Colin Richmond, Professor of History at Keele and lcading authority on
Pastons and 15th-century East Anglia. Professor Richmond spoke of Thomas Playter’s
purchase of Sotterley, 1467, not in way Suckling imagined, but as set out in his own article
in Proceedings (XXV, 41-52). He referred to Playter, industrious lawyer, still represented in
chancel that he saw as family chapel: in brass, as gentle knight; and in glass of E. window
as father of family, his dynasty. President spoke of other remarkable monumental brasses
in church, and thanked Revd C.]. Atkinson for kindly welcome to his churches here and at
Westhall.

Members then moved outside to neighbouring Hall. Core seems to survive from building
that served as cradle and capital of Playter family, but outer appearance is that given it by
Miles Barne, rich London merchant, who bought it from Playters, 1745. Miles Barne,
present owner, unwilling for members to sce interior. His uncle kindly conducted members
round outside, and Rachel Lawrence spoke of family’s history in 18th century as revealed
in her brilliant book, Southwold River: Georgian Life in the Blyth Valley.

Westhall, St Andrew’s Church. Celia Jennings spoke with feeling of atmosphere of this
remarkable building, of Romanesque W. front conccaled within tower, and seven-
sacrament font. Judith Middleton-Stewart spoke of her researches (now published in
Proceedings, above, pp. 297-315), in explanation of high quality of chancel.

6 June. Pat Murrell

Bury St Edmunds

Afternoon walk around Georgian Bury preceded by slide-illustrated talk on one of
Georgian England’s leading provincial towns, providing visual cvidence of town as it
looked in that period. Georgian locations and street names are cited below in brackets.

Quaker meeting house, St John’s Strcet (Long Brackland), built mid-18th century o cater
for onc of town’s several large Nonconformist congregations. Markei Cross/Theatre, now Art
Gallery, Cornhill (Great Market): viewed first on approach from St John’s Strect, N. side,
giving idea of building’s former prominence. Upper storey of old Market Cross first
converted into permanent theatre for town, 1733-34. Refurbished with Adam facade,
1770s. Cupola House, Traverse (Skinner Row/Shambles), built 1693 for wealthy apothccary
and corporation member Thomas Macro sen. Visited, 1698, by Celia Fiennes, who found
this ‘high house’ morc appealing than numerous timber-framed buildings of older
design.

Site of gaol for western division of county, Cornhill (Great Market): visited by John
Howard, 1770s and replaced by that in Sicklesmere Road, carly 19th century. Site of
Clothiers’ Wool Hall, Cornhill, commemorated in strect now linking Cornhill and St
Andrew’s Strect. Site of Buichers® Shambles, Cornhill/Traverse: wooden, replaced by clegant
stonc building, 1760s — part of latter possibly remains at extreme N. end of Corn
Exchange now occupying site. Guildhall: chambers for borough’s governing body and
clectorate of thirty-seven men. Premises of James Qakes, Guildhall Street: oppositc Guildhall
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and now occupied by firm of solicitors. House extended and ‘modernised’ or ‘Geor-
gianmsed” by London architect (Sir) John Soane, late 1780s—carly 1790s. Presbyterian meeting
house, Churchgate Street, now known as Unitarian Chapel: since Institute’s visit, internal
restoration work completed, and fine Queen Anne building open to public. Built 1710-11
by local craftsmen, architect unknown. High profile location and design may reflect
contemporary wealth and importance of Presbyterians in town. Site of Workhouse, College
Street: little remaining evidence on ground of once large public institution. Site pur-
chased, 1748, and dcveloped to provide for increasing number of poor. Six Bells Inn, now
Masonic Lodge, corner of Churchgate Street and Chequer Square: red brick facade,
looking much as it did when area painted by Michael Angelo Rooker, 1790s. Presbyterian
Ministers’ Vault, N. of bell tower of St Mary’s Church: purchased mid-18th century for use
of ministers and wives; three buried here. Hervey Town House, Honey Hill (School-Hall
Street): documented in letters of John Hervey, Ist Earl of Bristol. Built, 1730s, to plans by
James Burroughs, as town housc for Elizabeth Hervey, née Felton, 2nd wife of John, 1st
Earl. Originally bore Hervey arms on triangular pediment, for which local stonemason
Robert Singleton was paid 30 guineas, 1737. Currently undergoing extensive alterations,
to become borough’s new '‘museum. Old Shire Hall, Honey Hill/Raingate Strect {School-
Hall Street): site of mecetings of Quarter Secssions, Assizes, ctc.; now cngulfed by
Victorian building. '

Great Churchyard: joint churchyard for St Mary’s and St James’s. Various Georgian
inhabitants buried here include Martha Crane, royal midwife, Sarah Gedge (née Green),
Ist wife of Peter Gedge, founder of Bury Post; William Green printer, Gedgc’s original
partner; John Rackham, bookseller, who ran Reposnorv of the Arts and Circulating Library
from premiscs on Angcl Hill, now Susi G’s. Memorials to Mary Haselton, killed by
lightning while at vespers, and Sarah Lloyd, executed for her part in robbery perpetrated
on her mistress. Site of first Botanic Gardens: to N.E. of Great Churchyard, towards river.
Established 1820 by Mr Hodson; moved to Abbey Gardens, 1831. Clopton Asylum/Hospital
(now Provost’s House), Great Churchyard: erected in 1730s at same time as Hervey Town
House, and in direct eye-line of upper storey of latter, which may have influenced design of
building. Poley Clopton, Doctor of Physic, bequcathed money to provide for six men and
six women aged sixty or more, who had retired from trade in town. Site purchased from Sir
Jermyn Davers, June 1735. Mr Steele, Lady Hervey’s bricklayer, also worked on this
building. Site of Widow’s Coffee House, in gap between St James’s and Norman Tower, now
providing entrance to Great Churchyard. Demolished 1844. Probably named after Winni-
fred Haynes, maternal grandmother of Letitia Rookes. Letitia ran Coffee House until
retirement, 1776; died wealthy, 1782.

Assembly Rooms, Angel Hill, now Atheneum: venue for many glittering balls and
assemblies. Alterations to building, 1780s and early:19th century. Angel Hill: site of famous
Bury Fair, held in September and October throughout Georgian period. Lady Davers’s House,
Angel Hill: currently being restored; found to contain some splendid Georgian interior
decoration, besides Venctian window visible from Abbey Gardens. Angel Inn: inn for
borough; main section of current Angel Hotel refashioned and refronted, 1774-78. Kendall
prints of these two dates show old and new facades. Cook Row, now Abbeygate Street: most
fashionable shopping mall in Georgian Bury. Repaved and renamed, 1792. Butter and Fish
Market: local tradesmen’s premiscs noted, together with large numbcr of inns here and
around Cornhill in Georgian period. ‘Suffolk Hotcl’, formerly ‘Greyhound’; ‘Half Moon’ —
no longer extant — well-known galleried inn; bcvond were Sprcad hagle and ‘Three
Pigeons’, both associated with cock ﬁghtmg Excursion ended outside Moyse’s Hall
Museum, which served as Borough Bridewell or house of correction for most of Georgian
period.
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22 June. Timothy Easton and Edward Martin
Framsden and Eye: some garden history
Framsden, St Mary’s Church. Fine 15th-century S. porch with flushwork decoration; same
general group as Hitcham porch seen in 1990; characteristic doorway with engaged
columns and carvings in mouldings — here fleurons, crowns, lions’ heads. In spandrels,
rather worn figures of hunter/wildman with club and dragon (similar carvings on porch at
Badingham). Contemporary W. tower has similar crowns and fleurons in doorway
mouldings and two shields in spandrels — left, with three crowns and arrow for St Edmund,
right, instruments of Passion. Above door, fricze with shields — originally three, now two:
left, Bocking family arms (fess nebuly between six crosses); centre, Morley (lion rampant).
Sir Thomas Morley (d. 1428) lord of manor of Framsden; daughter and heiress Margaret
(d. 1460) married Sir Geoffrey Radcliffe. Missing shield probably bore Radcliffe arms.
Tower built by 1487, when Thomas Aldrych contracted to build one like it at Helmingham.
Interesting brick windows in clerestory on S. side, very similar in form to windows of
Garneys Chantry chapel at Kenton (mentioned as ‘late edified’ in will ofjohn Garneys,
1522). Similar brick windows on N. side of nave.

Inside: 14th-century S. aisle arcade with octagonal piers; 15th-century font; double
hammerbeam nave roof; l4th-century stalls and misericords in chancel; window in N.
chancel wall has curious small figure of man, allegedly Saxon, beside it.

Framsden, Boundary Farm (by kind permission of Mr and Mrs C. Bacon). Ornate mid-17th-
century brick stable; site of 17th-century summerhouse; 16th-century timber-framed house
with fine early 17th-century plaster ceilings and later 17th-century wing; canal with
flanking terrace in garden, early 18th-century. A fuller account will appear in next year’s
Proceedings.

Eye, Cranley Hall (by kind permission of Mrs M. Saunders and Mr D. Saunders). Starting
point — 1626 map, surveyor unknown, made for new owner, Myles Edgar (Fig. 64). Only
survives as carly 20th-century tracing by Edmund Farrer, but comparison with same
surveyor’s map of Edgar’s property at Moat Farm, Dennington (formerly Pyeshall; Fig. 66),
suggests a faithful copy. Fragmentary moat with broad N. entry immediately recognisable,
though slightly curtailed (Fig. 65). Knot garden shown adjoining W. side of house now
gone, though position still discernible (similar feature shown on 1627 Dennington map).
Also gone is crenellated fence or wall in front of house. House now looks different:
timber-framed frontage has plain axial roof with cross wing at W. end and double cross
wing at E. end; close inspection of facade shows former presence of double-storeyed porch
(as on map) and probable gabled scction to W. of it; map-maker seems to have shortened
facade — several plain bays omitted. Extra wing at E. end added after 1626. Small structurce
with turret or louver, shown on edge of moat E. of house, now gone, almost certainly
dovecote (Dennington map shows identical structure in similar moat-side position).
Attractive thatched octagonal summerhouse with ogee windows and painted ceiling,
probably early 19th-century, situated in remains of orchard shown in same position, 1626 —
experience elsewhere is that orchard sites often show long history of continuity.

Notable feature of map: group of farm buildings arranged around courtyard N. of house
— an important and early depiction of this plan form. Three of buildings shown still exist:
barn (now pig-house) on E. side, granary on N. and, at S.W. corner, unusually ecarly
example of purpose-built stable, all timber-framed. Entry to stable by slightly off-centre
door in W. side. Inside, along gable walls on cither side, mangers and hayracks for horses;
central post has hooks for lanterns with lozenge-shaped lath and plaster smoke baffle
attached to joists above. Built-in ladders (probably not original since joists apparently
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2671 Eye). Notc the formal garden beside the house, the dovecote on the edge of the moat, the courtyard-plan
group of farm buildings and the small orchard moat at the top.

sawn off to accommodate them) give access to upper storey (presumably hayloft). Upper
floor has exterior loading door in N. wall and two wood-mullioned, formerly glazed,
windows in W. wall. Inscribed in wall plaster are several multi-circle patterns and date
1774 — protective symbols commonly found in farm buildings in which animals kept, often
introduced during refurbishment. Above, carly 17th-century butt-purlined roof. Granary a
complex structure, shortened at E. end. Roof shows signs of rebuilding — existing staggered
butt-purlin roof probably not original. Two windows (one now blocked), identical to those
in stable, overlook courtyard at first-floor level. Mortice holes in tic-beams of upper storey
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CRANLEY HALL
— EYE —

orchard ——>

[

summerhouse o

M Buildings on 1626 map
Later additions
f4 Modern buildings

FiG. 65 ~ Cranley Hall, Eye: modern plan, at a similar scale and orientation to the 1626 map.

indicate former existence of third floor or loft. Granary modified to accommodate milling
machinery.

Map of 1626 also shows barn S. of house. Apparently five bays originally, subsequently
enlarged to seven and heightened; now used as pig-house. None of farm buildings likely to
be much earlier than 1626, but uncertain whether built for Myles Edgar or Henry Grey,
previous owner of estate.

Greys, ancient gentry family from Ketteringham (Norfolk), acquired Goswold Hall,
Thrandeston by marriage, 15th century. Henry’s grandfather, another Henry, appears to
have settled in Eye — a Principal Burgess, 1575, and there when pedigree recorded at
Heralds’ Visitation, 1577 — but resided necarby in Palgrave at death, 1592/3. Grandson
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F1G. 66 — Moat Farm, Dennington: detail of a map of 1627 (Norfolk Record Office, N.R.S. 11903) by the same
surveyor as the Eye map. Again note the formal garden and the dovecote.

Henry educated Cambridge (1598) and Lincoln’s Inn (1604). He and uncle Henry
purchased Leiston Abbey, 1619, from Browne cousins for £2,000; forced to resell, 1627.
Coincides with sale of Cranley Hall; two events probably connected, reflecting over-
stretched finances.

While Greys going down, Edgars rising. Myles’s grandfather, Edward Edgar of Battis-
ford, described as of mediocris fortunae when son Henry admitted to Cambridge University,
1564. Henry acquired Moat Farm (Pyeshall manor), Dennington and died there, 1619. Son
Myles continued family’s advance by buying Cranley Hall, a more substantial residence.
Probably in twenties and newly married when moved to Eye, where eldest son baptised,
1627. Myles becamec a Principal Burgess of Eye; buried there, 1671. Edgar line at Cranley
ended with death of Myles’s son Henry, 1705. Heiresses took property to Britiffes of
Baconsthorpe, then to Hobarts of Blickling.

Final feature of note: small moat S.E. of Hall. Shown on 1626 map as filled with small
trees, probably orchard, approached by bridge near N.W. corner. (No fruit trees or bridge
survive in small copse now covering moat.) Moated orchard probably. designed as private
pleasure-garden; orchards and gardens synonymous in Middle Ages.

20 July. Clive Paine and members of the Woolpit Historical Inveslzgatwn Group

Waoolpit

Members visited church, brickworks, Lady’s Well conservation arca, and museum. Guided
tour of village. An article- on medieval Our Lady of Woolpit and Our Lady s Well will
appear in next year’s Proceedings.
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St Mary’s Church: Decorated chancel with internal and external string course; fragment of
Norman zig-zag decoration, and re-used doorway of ¢. 1100, in S. wall; Decorated E.
window tracery with Early English internal shafts, as at Mildenhall; angle buttresses with
niches. Site of chapel of Our Lady of Woolpit on N. side of chancel. Decorated nave,
heightened with flushwork clerestory and new roof, 1460s and 1470s. No recorded bequests
specifically to roof, but large sum of £6 13s. 4d. to ‘repairs’, 1471.

Perpendicular N. aisle, of same dimensions as existing Decorated S. aisle, presumably
built after 1462 when bequest made to ‘emendation of the church on the north side’. £6 13s.
4d. left in 1500 ‘towards the making of the north aisle under this condition, that William
Abrey of Woolpit make the aforesaid aisle within the space of two years’. Aisle apparently
completed by 1501, when mention made of tabernacle, altar and stool, dedicated to St
James, and of ‘lengthening the north aisle . . . if the town be disposed to help forward with
the work’. Was aisle built bay by bay as finance allowed? Perhaps 1500 bequest for final
section, and that of 1501 to extend it towards chapel of Our Lady.

Bequests to splendid S. porch, 1430-74, included £3 6s. 8d. to ‘fabric’, 1430; to ‘new
porch’ and ‘emendation of the doors’, 1439; and £20 for ‘five images to be placed in the
porch’, 1474. Fifteenth-century rood screen; bequest of £13 6s. 8d. for making candlebeam,
1467. Curious tracery arches and flat platform in rood loft position, painted and dated
1750, but may have been part of original structure. Earliest reference to supposed ‘canopy
of honour” above chancel arch in 1843 restoration, when money spent on its painting. Was
it added during restoration of all roofs by Henry Ringham that year?

Tower and spire hit by lightning, 1852, rebuilt by Richard Phipson of Ipswich, 1853-54.
Nave benches by Edward Bisshopp of Ipswich, 1878.

28 September.  Edward Martin and Timothy Easton

Moals in the landscape: Parham and Letheringham

Parham, Moat Hall (by kind permission of Mr and Mrs J.W. Gray). Justly regarded as one of
most romantic Suffolk moated halls. Large, roughly square, moated site of 2.8 acres;
causcway on E. side leading to brick-edged island of 0.85 acre (Fig. 67). Entry through
brick arch (probably of second half of 16th century) with stone figures of wildmen in niches
cither side ~ supporters of Willoughby family, who inherited Parham manor from Uffords,
Earls of Suffolk, early 15th century and continued in ownership to mid-17th century.

Another, free-standing, arch formerly stood on edge of lawn in front of house;
dismantled, 1926, and shipped to America to become entrance to Wharton-Sinkler
Conference Centre, Philadelphia. Heraldry on ornate limestone facing “of this arch
indicates erection by Sir Christopher Willoughby (d. 1498/9). Similarly carved shield in
Parham church, part of dismantled table-tomb, also bear heraldry pointing to him.
Another shicld in same style, with arms of 4th Lord Willoughby (d. 1396), recently found
amongst rubble at Moat Hall. Also built into various outbuildings there, numcrous carved
limestone fragments, including two bearing Willoughby motto, all derived from some
demolished structure or structures on site. Also a number of rectangular brick objects (11in
X l4in) with dished surfaces, probably reverses of moulded brick ornaments (possibly
heads), carly 16th-century.

House consists of relatively plain timber-framed range of 17th century with, at right
angles, more substantial red brick range of carly 16th. Latter not particularly impressive
from S., but from N. a glorious sight — rising sheer from water of moat are two full-height
canted bays with large brick windows and projecting chimney stack, all decorated with
diaper pattern picked out in blue headers. Traces of another projecting structure, probably
stair turret, to E. of bays, balancing stack on W. side. On E. corner, beginning of yet
another projecting bay with windows, rclating to something beyond existing building
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FIG. 67 — Moat Hall, Parham: plan based on the 1883 Ordnance Survey 1:2500 scale map, with the addition of
details from recent observation.

(which seems to be an original unit). In mass, height and positioning, great brick range has
some resemblance to corner towers that provided suites of private apartments at
courtyard-plan moated houses at Oxborough and Westhorpe.

W. end of brick range, in unexpected contrast to rest, has timber closc-studding with
herring-bone-pattern brick-nogging and remains of two large timber oriel windows.
Apparently odd combination of solid brick walling and brick-nogging parallcled clsewhere
— both techniques apparently regarded as highly fashionable and prestigious, late 15th and
carly 16th centuries (McCann 1987). Moat Hall an important carly example of this fashion.

Internally, upper floor most impressive part of main brick range. Now divided up 1into
tall rooms by late 16th-century panclled partitions, but must originally have been one great
room (17ft X 54ft approx.), extending across whole range. On N. side, two large bay
windows overlooked moat, as did large oriel window on W. Obviously an important room:
great chamber or sort of gallery.

Brickwork style suggests a date in late 15th or carly 16th century, but roof structure,
particularly presence of apparently original on-edge joists, suggests date nearer 1550.
Three most likely candidates for builder: William, Lord Willoughby de Eresby (d. 1526),
brother Sir Christopher (d. ¢ 1540), or nephew William, created Lord Willoughby of
Parham, 1547 (d. 1570). Younger William’s increasing involvement with Lincolnshire
makes a major building programme by him at Parham after 1550 unlikely.

Division of grcat chamber into smaller units using panelling may be contemporary with
widowed Lady Willoughby’s occupation, 1570-99. Reduction in size of house may also
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have taken place in her time: certainly Barnaby Bowtell’s nine hearths here in 1674 must
relate to house in present form.

Adjoining W. side of moat, rectangular ditched enclosure, probably once a garden. At
N.E. corner is a slight mount, providing best vicws of highly decorative N. and W. sides of
brick range — in fact they appear to have been designed to be viewed from this point.
Reminiscent of garden to rear of Charles Brandon’s great moated house at Westhorpe
(view from brick corner tower over this garden specifically mentioned in 1538 survey; Gunn
and Lindley 1988) and elaborate moated garden behind Mettingham Castle, of which
remains surveyed 1562 (Martin 1990).

Letheringham, Letheringham Lodge (by kind permission of Mr and Mrs M.R. Clough).
Complete change in scale from Parham — moated site covers only 0.33 acre, island itself a
tiny 0.1 acre; very probably smallest occupied moat in Suffolk. Except for narrow garden at
front, house covers virtually all available space. Earliest part an extraordinary structure:
originally square and jettied on all four sides, with large carved posts at corners. Much
elaborately carved early 16th-century panelling from upper floor removed to Brodick
Castle, Isle of Arran, ¢. 1920. Heraldic evidence links 1t with Sir Anthony Wingfield (c.
1485-1552) of nearby Letheringham Hall (Lodge formed part of Hall estate down to this
century). Sometimes claimed as hunting lodge, structure does in fact lie outsids known
park. However, hill-top location with extensive views suggests a gloriette ~ lodge of
seigneurial apartments set on high point for contemplation of scenery and enjoyment of
healthy air (Hall itsclf was low-lying beside river); from time to time may also have served
as vantage point for spectators of hunts. It is hoped to present a more detailed account of
this very interesting building in a future issue of the Proceedings.
Clive Paine,
Hon. Excursions Secretary
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February 23
March 9

October 5

November 2

November 30

LECTURES

At Ipswich: “The Decoration of Suffolk Buildings’, by Timothy Easton.
At Bury St Edmunds: “The History of Shoe Fashions’, by June Swann, M.B.E.

At Thornham Magna: “Traditional Sport and Leisure: the Camping Close
and its Significance’, by David Dymond.

At Ipswich: ‘Suffolk Parks to A.D. 1600°, by Rosemary Hoppitt.

At Bury St Edmunds: “The Eccentricities of Antiquaries’, by Dr John
Blatchly.

402



MEMBERS ELECTED DURING 1991

During the year 55 members were clected and, after taking into account resignations and lapsed members, the
membership at the end of 1991 stood at 810, a net increase of 38. The total comprised 541 full members, 178
associate members and 91 institutional members.

Amiss, Mrs S., 54 Springficld Road, Lower Somersham, Ipswich, 1P8 4PQ.

Barber, Mr G., 10 Chapel Lanc, Stretham, Cambs., CB6 3]T.

Barnard, Mr M.J., 41 Melbournc Street, Ipswich, 1P4 5PP.

Bartlett, Mrs P., Little Grange, Pytches Road, Woodbridge, 1P12 1EP.

Basham, Mr D., 46 Alexandra Road, Ipswich, IP4 2RL.

Boothman, Mrs L., 18 York Strect, Cambridge, CB1 2PY.

Brereton, Mrs J., The Old Vicarage, Bramfield, Halesworth, 1P19 9HT.

Burns, Mr G.P., and Bose, Miss T.J., Timbers, The Street, Woodbridge, P30 9SA.
Church, Mr D., 14 Homeficld Close, Creech St Michael, Taunton, Somerset, TA3 5QR.
Cobbold, Mr and Mrs D.D., Highlands, The Street, Belstead, Ipswich, 1P 3LU.
Constable, Mr and Mrs J., Octagon House, Easton, Woodbridge, IP13 OEE.

Corcoran, Dr and Mrs J., 95 Eastgate Street, Bury St Edmunds, P33 1YW,

Cotton, Dr S.A., 3 Heathfields, Trimley St Martin, Felixstowe, IP10 0GA.

Davison, Mr A., M.A,, F.S.A. (Scot.), 47 Linton Crescent, Sprowston, Norwich, Norfolk, NR7 8NN,
Evans, Mrs F.H., 40 Dales Road, Ipswich, IP1 4]JE.

Gibbons, Mrs Z.A., Yew Tree Farmhouse, The Street, Brockford, Stowmarket, 1P14 5PE.
Gray, Mr J.W.H., Rookery Farm, Pulham Market, Diss, Norfolk, 1P21 4XN.

Harvey, Mr and Mrs C., Kirton Manor, Kirton, Ipswich, IP10 OPD.

Ker, Dr and Mrs D.S.S.; 2 Birch Close, Wickham Market, Woodbridge, P13 0QR.
Kitching, Ms H., Northficlds, 80 Forest Road, Onchouse, Stowmarket, IP14 3H].
Loader, Mr T.A., 3 Bourne Cottages, Bourne Hill, Wherstead, Ipswich, 1P2 8NH.
McKechnie, Mr and Mrs 1., Cornerways, Southolt, Eye, 1P23 7Q].

McKeon, Mr M.P., F.C.C.A,, Church Coutage, Church Hill, Monks Eleigh, Ipswich, IP7 7]Q.
McLaughlin, Mrs A., Clare Gottage, The Street, Hepworth, Diss, Norfolk, 1P22 2PS.
Mulcahy, Miss P., Greenacre, Front Street, Ousden, Newmarket, CB8 8TW.

Pcarse, Mr W.R., 21 Wentworth Drive, Ipswich, IP8 3RX.

Potter, Mrs R., 56 High Strect, Debenham, Stowmarket, 1P14 6QW.

Pynn, Mrs J., The Dove, 18 Aspall Road, Debenham, 1P14 6QA.

Ridgley, Ms D., 11 Holden Road, Lackford, Bury St Edmunds, 1P28 6HZ.

Rimmer, Mrs E.M., End Cottage, The Street, Bedingfield, Eye, [P23 7L.Q.

Roberts, Mr S., Union Farm, Bulcamp, Halesworth, 1P19 9LD.

Savery, Mr A.E., 24 The Bailiwick, East Harling, Norwich, Norfolk, NR16 2NF.

Scott, Mrs M., Bedingfield Hall, Bedingficld, Eye, 1P23 7L].

Scriven, Mr P., The Boundaries, Frostenden, Beccles, NR34 8BN.

Sheehan, Ms J., Waveney House, Redgrave, Diss, Norfolk, 1P22 1RY.

Sills, Mrs S., 75a Fore Street, Framlingham, Woodbridge, 1P13 9DD.

Trewick, Miss A., 2 Talbots, Orwell Road, Felixstowe, IP11 7QD.

Utting, Mr D., 39 Blomfield Street, Bury St Edmunds, 1P33 1'TD.

Warren, Mr S.W_, 3 Roden Close, Harlow, Essex, CM17 OLE.

Weller, Mr and Mrs D., Bridge Farm, Low Street, Hoxne, Eye, IP2] 5AR.

Wells, Ms C.E., and Breen, Mr A.M., 72 Anderson Close, Needham Market, Ipswich, 1P6 8UB.
West, Mr R.B., Farnham Barn, Farnham, Saxmundham, I1P17 1LD.

West, Mr T.E., 8 Arrowhead Drive, Lakenheath, Brandon, 1P27 9JN.

Whitelock, Mr and Mrs A., Changeways, Livermere Road, Great Barton, Bury St Edmunds, 1P31 2SB.
Wicke, Mrs B., 82 Cannon Street, Bury St Edmunds, IP33 1]JR.
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£
13665.33

(3387.20)

10278.13

£10278.13

SUFFOLK INSTITUTE OF ARCHAEOLOGY AND HISTORY
BALANCE SHEET AT 31st DECEMBER 1991

ACCUMULATED FUNDS

Balance brought forward
Ist January 1990

Add: Surplus/(Deficit) 1991

Purchase of 9% Treasury Stock

1990

£
10278.13 401.13

1421.78

1000.00
11699.91 3883.16

150.00 4883.16

1660.00

3333.84

£11849.91 £10278.13

Note: 57 copies (58 copies 1990) Dame Alice de Brvene in stock valued at cost £228 (£232 in 1990)

CURRENT ASSETS £ £
Cash at Bank 290.93
Investments
General
14% “Treasury Stock 98/01 1000.00
Nat Savings Investment -

Lloyds Premier Int. A/C 5088.17

6088.17
Life Membership Fund
9% Treasury Stock 1994 1810.00
Research. Excavation
and Publication Fund
Llovds Premier Int. A/C 3660.81

£11849.9]

1 have examined the books and accounts of the Suffotk Institute of Archacology and History and in my opinion the Balance Sheet and Income and
Expenditure Account give a fair view of the financial position of the Institute at 31st December 1991 and of the income and expenditure for the year
ended on that date.

8477.90
399.00
30.00

8906.90

89.10

89.10

8817.90

425.28

112.50
70.00

182.50

94.00
156.55
65.22
138.20
50.00

503.97

(3387.20)

£6542.35

(signed) ¥.G. SUTHERLAND. Honorary Treasurer, D.E. COLYER. S.AT.. Honorary Auditor.

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3ist DECEMBER 1991

EXPENDITURE £
Proceedings

Printing

Postage

Expenses

Less
Sales
Grant (Suffolk C.C.)

Insert

46.40
200.00
30.00

Newsletter
Including postage cte.

Subscriptions & Crants
Subscriptions
Grants

General Expenses

Excursions (less receipts)
Lectures (less receipts)
Printing & Stationery

Office Expenses, Postage
Insurance

Bank Charges

Commission on Stock Purchase

Purchase of 9% Treasury
Stack
Surplus (deficit) for vear

1990
£ £ £
3918.00 4590.35
416.48 -
30.00 285.89
4364.48 4876,24
150.12
276.40 298.51
494.50
4088.08
943.13
450.25
153.78
119.50
70.00 52.90
225.48
189.50
278.38
70.00
119.05 44.00
76.95 246.82
140.93
50.00 290.82
18.50
1.00 e
476.43
150.00
142178 ———

£6776.04 £6542.25

404

INCOME £ £
Subscriptions
Annual Members 4806.35
Life Membership 300.00
Tax Refund (Covenants) 243.05
Donation 10.00
3359.40
Dividends & Interest
General Investments
14% Treasury Stock 1998/01  150.12
National Savings Investment -
Account
Lloyds Premier Interest 753.01
Account
Current Account Interest 9.66
914.79
Life Membership Investment
9% Treasury Stock 1994
167.38
Research. Excaration & Publication
National Savings Investment -
Account
Llovds Premier Interest 326.97
Account -
326.97
Sales
“Dame Alice de Bryene” 7.50
Profit on Atlas -
7.50
£6776.04



PLATE XXII
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Westhall Church: part of the Romanesque south aisle showing wall stratification and (centre) the 15th-century window inserted in place of one of the 14th
century.
J. MIDDLETON-STEWART



PLATE XXIII

from the north east.

Westhall Church: exterior of the chancel

J. MIDDLETON-STEWART

Photograph by the late Angus McBean



PLATE XXIVa PLATE XXIVb

- ¢ e - -
Westhall Church: boss on the chancel roof representing the Holy Trinity. Westhall Church: the Croftes arms on the south aisle roof, ¢. 1474.

J. MIDDLETON-STEWART



PLATE XXV

Westhall Church: the north rood screen, ¢. 1512,

J. MIDDLETON-STEWART



PLATE V]

Ipswich in 1669: a view from the east, apparentfrom above the site of the present Alexandra Park.

By permission of the Director of the Biblioteca Medicea Laurenziana, Florence
R. CravTon




PLATE XXVllIa

Wordwell Church: exterior of the south tympanum showing the ‘tree of life’.
By permission of the Royal Commission on the Historical Monuments of England

PLATE XXVIIb

Wordwell Church: interior of the north tympanum.
By permission of the Royal Commission on the Historical Monuments of England
R. HALLIDAY



PLATE XXVIlIla PLATE XXVIIIb
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Wordwell Church: exterior of the north doorway. West Stow Church: interior of the north doorway.

R. HALLIDAY



PLATE XXIX

Sotterley Hall: the servants’ ‘invisibility trench’, a sunken path across the east garden.
Photograph by Norman Scarfe
EXCURSIONS



SUFFOLK INSTITUTE OF ARCHAEOLOGY AND HISTORY

Membership. — Application forms for membership are obtainable from the Hon. Member-
ship Secretary, Dr J.O. Martin, Oak Tree Farm, Hitcham, Ipswich, IP7 7LS. Present
members are urged to support the Institute by enrolling new members.

Subscriptions. — The annual subscription is £8 for an ordinary member (or £7.50 if paid by
banker’s order) due in advance on 1 January. The joint subscription for a husband and wife
is £9.50 (or £9 by banker’s order). Students under 18 are entitled to pay at the student rate
of £4.50 (or £4 by banker’s order). Subscriptions should be sent to the Hon. Financial
Secretary, F.G. Sutherland, Ampners, Little Green, Thrandeston, Diss, Norfolk, IP21 4BX.

Privileges. — The annual subscription entitles members to a copy of the Institute’s journal,
the Proceedings, which contains articles by national and local scholars on the archaeology
and history of Suffolk. They will also receive the twice-yearly Newsletter, giving details of
forthcoming events, short notes and book reviews. The Institute organises a number of
excursions in the summer to places of interest in and around Suffolk. In the winter it has a
programme of lectures, held alternately in Bury St Edmunds and Ipswich. Members may
also use and borrow books from the Institute’s Library, housed in the Suffolk Record
Office, Raingate Street, Bury St Edmunds. Finally, members who wish to take an active
part in archaeological fieldwork may join the Institute’s Field Group, which has close links
with the County Archaeological Unit and local museums. Enquiries respecting the Field
Group should be addressed to the Hon. Field Group Secretary, M.J. Hardy, 2 Church
Road, Flixton, Bungay, NR35 INU.

Publications. Indexes of the articles in past volumes of the Proceedings are to be found in
volumes X (1900), XXIV (1948) and XXX (1966). Back-numbers of Proceedings and other
publications are available from Mrs S. Muldoon, Ipswich Museum, High Street, Ipswich,
IP1 3QH, Vols. I-XXXIII at £3 per part to members, £5 to non-members, XXXIV-
XXXVII at £3.50 per part to members, £5 to non-members, plus postage.

Articles and notes on all aspects of Suffolk archaeology and history should be sent to the
Hon. Editor, David Allen, 105 Tuddenham Ave, Ipswich, IP4 2HG, from whom copies of
Notes for Contributors may be obtained. Items for inclusion in the Newsletter, published in
March and September, should be sent to Edward Martin, Oak Tree Farm, Hitcham,
Ipswich, IP7 7LS, or Brian Seward, Roots, Church Lane, Playford, Ipswich, IP6 9DS.

The cover illustration of the great gold buckle from the Sutton Hoo ship burial was produced by Geoffrey
Moss and is published by courtesy of the Trustees of the British Museum.
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Benhall, ridge-and-furrow, 148

Bennett, Sir Henry, Lord Arlington,
139, 140

Bentley, bronze cake, 148

- —, mount, 233, illus 256

-, finds, 372

Betts, Thomas, of Wetherden, organ
builder, 20

Bigod, arms, 147, 149, 130, #llus 152

-, Hugh, 150

-, Roger, 5th Earl of Norfolk, 150, 169

-, Roger, 302, 303

Bildeston, Roman coins, 148

Binham Priory (Norf), 95, 96, 97, 100

- -, cartulary, 93, 100-1

- —, Norman mouldings, 302

Bird, Henry, of Bury St Edmunds,
cordwainer, 212

Bishop & Son, of Ipswich, organ
builders, 18

Bisshopp, Edward, of Ipswich, 399

Blackbourn Hundred, 321

Blackbourne, Rural Dean of, 98

Black Death, coastal fishing aftcr,
102-14

—, in Walsham-le-Willows, 316-7

Blackwater, river, 110

Blaxhall, bronze spearhead, 148, dllus
148

Blitchingden, Abraham, Ipswich
clothier, 131

Blois, William, 117

Blomfield, Sir Arthur, architect, 252,
253

Blundeston, John, mason, 291

Blundeville, Thomas, Bishop of
Norwich, 98

Blythburgh church, 302, 304

-, finds, 372

-, Quarter Scssions, 31

Blything Hundred, 303

—, Incorporation, financing of
workhouse, 352, 353, 354, 359-60,
363

Bohun family, 304

-, Edmund, of Westhall, 312

Bond, Avice, of Walsham-le-Willows,
329

Bonde family, of Walsham, 329

Borret, John, antiquary, 18, 19, 20, 25,
27,28

Bosmere and Claydon Incorporation,
financing of workhouse, 333

Bosworth Field, 20

Botesdale, excavations, 182

Boulge, ficldwalking, 70

Bowmane, John, of Bury St Edmunds,
212

Bowztcll, Barnaby, of Parham, 401

Boxford, bronze brooch, 255

-, organ at, 20

~, St Mary’s church, rccord of S porch
prior to restoration, 263

Boxted, finds, 255-6

Boys Hall, Flixton, 68

Boyton, Anglo-Saxon sites, 378

Bradfield Combust, bronze chisel
found, 59

Bramficld, Castie Yard, 289

-, Hall, grounds visited, 289

-, Oak, 289

-, St Andrews church, visited, 289

Bramford, bronze scal matrices, 149,
256

-, circular plate brooch, 256, illus 256

-, copper-gilt disc-brooch, 256

-, finds, 256, 372

-, gold quarter stater, 148

-, Grindle Lane, 173, Pl XI

-, Late Saxon strap end and brooch,
148

-, Roman road, 173

-, St Mary’s church visited, 1734

Brampton, manor of, 303

Brandeston Hall, 246, 248

Brandon, excavations, 71, 138, 181,
265-6

—, finds, 149

408

-, Playing Ficld, excavation of
intermediate Late Saxon scttlement
site, 158

-, Roman brooches and other finds,
372

-, Staunch Meadow excavations, 71

- - -, middle Saxon occupation layer,
265-6

- — —, small excavations, 265-6

Brantham, St Michael’s church
restoration, 49-50, 53

Bredficld, bronze mirror case found,
59-60

-, coin finds, 60, 372

Bretton, William, of Bury St Edmunds,
213

Brewse, Catherine de, 115

-, Richard de, 122

Brewster, William, of Bury St
Edmunds, 216

Bricett, Great, Priory, 86

Brick-and-flint flushwork, Hitcham,
188, 189, ilius 190

————, Great Bealings church, 195,
tllus 195

— —— =, Ixworth Thorpe church, 195,
tllus 195

-, and tile kilns excavated, 182

Bricknogging (herringbone), at Badley
Hall, 171

- —, at Moat Hall, Parham, 400

-, original overpainting, at Badley
Hall, 172

Brick prices for building of
workhouses, 359

Bricks, ‘Double Great Bricks’, 290, 291

-, 14th century, 119

-, ‘Great Bricks’, 290, 291

-, ornamental chimney, 122, 186

-, painted, 187, 189

-, purchased from Barsham, 39

Brick windows in Framsden church
and Garneys Chantry at Kenton,
395

Brickwork, diaper patterns, Hitcham,
189

-, medieval, 290, 291

Brightwell, 144

-, barrows, 184, 381

-, round barrow excavated, 381

Brightwell, Robert, gravestone at
Ufford, 85

Briscoe, Grace, Lady, excavations,
179, 183, 184

British Muscum, 184

Brockley Hall, Brockley, 288

Broke family, 83

-, John de, of Walsham-le-Willows,
329

—, Philip, of Nacton, 355

-, Philip Bowes, 82

—, Sir Philip Bowes Vere, 82, 83



Bromeswell, bronze bucket fragments
and other finds, 149, 372

Bronze mirror cases found: Bredficld,
59 Coddenham, 60, illus 64

Brooke, S, of Croydon, architect, 52

-, Walter, of Bury St Edmunds, 219

Brown, Basil, excavations, 179, 183,
184, 185

Browne, Robert, separatist, 208, 214

Brownists, 208

Brundish, Chantry Farm, site of, 287

-, St Lawrence’s church, visited, 287

—, Sir Edmund de, rector of Caister-
by-Norwich, brass to, 287

-, The Woodlands, visited, 287-8

Bryden, Ambrose, of Bury St
Edmunds, 212

Bucklesham, ditch of cropmark
complex sectioned, 381

-, Early Bronze Age pits, 381

-, fieldwalking, 70

—, Iron Age/Roman cropmark
enclosure, 381

Bulcamp, workhouse, 353, 356, 357,
358, 339, 361, 362, 363

Bumpstede family, of Willingham, 311,
312

— Arms, 311

Bunbury, Sir Henry, excavations at
Warren Hill, 182

Bungay castle excavations, 182

——, Kirby dllus, 169-70, Pis VIII, IX

- -, visited, 169--70

-, coin scatter, 372

-, folly tower at Bridge House, 170

-, pottery scatter, 60

~, St Mary’s church, organ at, 20

Bures, 225

Burgate, brooch finds, 372

Burgh (by Woodbridge), 11

- — -, excavations, 181

Burstall, finds, 256

~, St Mary’s church visited, 174

~, Walnut Tree Farm visited, 174

Burton of Beccles, 39

Bury St Edmunds Abbey, 31, 32, 368,
369n

- — - —, excavations, 182

-~ — —, precinct, cathedral
excavations, 71-2

- —~—, West Front, excavation and
architectural survey, 71

~~—, Assembly Rooms (Atheneum),
394

———, Babwell Friary, excavations on
sitc of church, 266

- — -, Boby Trading Estate, asscssment
excavation, 382

- ——, Boy Bishop tokens, 372-3

— — —, bronze horse-harness mount,
149

— ———, seal matrix, 60
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- - -, Candlemas Gild, 31, 33

—— -, coin brooch found, 60

~——, East Close, trial trenches, 382

-~ -, cxcavations in, 179, 182, 266-~7,
382

- ——, Feoffees, 231

- =, Georgian Bury visited, 393

- - —, Grammar School, 134, 133,
138, 140, 141

-~ =, Great Churchyard, 394

~ ——, Guildhall Feoflees, 209, 210,
215

————, Feoffment, 41

- ~—, No 5 Honey Hill, excavations on
site of medicval hall, 266

——~, Hospital of St Saviour,
excavations, 158-9, 182, 266-7

—— -, lead token, 60

-~ -, Moyses Hall Muscum, 184

- — -, Quaker meeting housc, St John’s
Street, visited, 393

-~ -, rcligious conflicts in 16th
century, 208-24

- -, St Mary’s church, pews
transferred to Ugglebarnby (Yorks),
251-4, Pls XXa, XXb, XXI

———, St Peter’s church, 46, 52

-~ -, Unitarian Chapel, visited, 394

- —~, West Suflolk Hospital,
enlargement, 45

Butley, flint axe found, 60

Buxton Incorporation (Norf ), financing
of workhouse, 353

C

Cage, Thomas, 213

Calthorpe (alias Sufficld), Bishop
Walter, 99

-, Dorothy, 84

-, James, of Ampton, 83-5

Cambridge, 338

Candle ‘writing’, 285

Canning, Richard, director of Nacton
workhouse, 357

Capel St Andrew, Iron Age and
Roman pottery scatter, 378

— - -, pottery scatters around Capel
Green, 378-9

Capel St Mary, cremation burial, 256

Carlford & Colneis Incorporation,
financing of workhousc, 352, 353,
354, 359, 361, 364

Carlford Hundred, 143

Carlisle Cathedral, early organ, 28

Carter, Revd R §, rector of Brantham,
50

Casue Acre (Norf'), Prior of, 97

==, Priory (Norf), Norman moulding,
302

Castles, 115-23, 169-70, Pl Via & b,
Vill, 1X, 267, 289

409

—, visited, 169-70, 289

Cavendish, Anglo-Saxon cemetery,
182

Chambers, Sir William, architect,
45

Chandler, Andrew, and Poultney,
Thomas, builders of workhouses,
358, 363, 364

Chapman family, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 329

-, Robert, of Gislingham, 88

Charles 11, King, 338

Charsfield, finds, 373

Chediston, barbless tanged flint
arrowhead, 373

—, bronze palstave, 373, illus 374

-, flint axe, 256

Chelmondiston, coin find, 60

-, St Andrew’s church restoration,
48-9, 52,53

Chelmsford (Essex), 339

Chelsworth, finds, 373

Chesapcake, US frigate, 82

Chesney, William de, founder of
Sibton Abbey, 289

Chever, Alice, 33

—,John, of Beccles, 33

Chimney bricks, medieval, 122

Christ’s dole, 105

Clare castle excavations, 182

-, finds, 60, 373

-, flint axe, 149

-, organ at, 20

-, manor, at Southwold, 103

Clark, John Medland, of Ipswich,
architect, 238-49, Tombstone, 245,
Pl XIXa

Clay-pipe kilns excavated, 182

Clere, Anne, née Tyrrell, wifc of
Edward, 143

-, Edward, of Blickling (Norf), 143,
144

Clevehog family, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 327,329

Clopton, field walking, 69

Clopton, John, of Kentwell Hall, 199

Cloth accounts of Ipswich merchant,
124-33

Coad ], 184

Coastal Fishing after Black Death,
102-14

Coddenham, 9, 11

~, bronze caterpillar brooch, 257

~, mirror case found, 60

-, brooch, buckle and coin finds,
256-7

-, excavations, 72, 159, 181, 267

-, finds, 60-2, illus 61

~, gilt bronze cruciform suspension
mount, 237, illus 257

-, Iron Age and Pagan Saxon site,
excavations, 72
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-, Roman villa site, excavations, 72,
159, 267

-, sword scabbard fragment, 256

-, Valley Farm, excavations at, 72,
159, 267

Coke family, of Bramficld, 201, 202

-, Arthur, of Bramfield, 289

Colby family, of Brundish, 287

Colchester (Essex), 338, 339, 340

-, Abbot of, 97, 98

-, inquisition of 1377, 113

Coldham Hall, Stanningficld, 134

Collehous (Colishouston), 103

Collier, Jeremy, rector of Ampton, 83

Colling, Henry, Alderman of Bury, 219

Collyer, Revd Thomas, rector of
Gislingham, 88

Colne, river, 110

Colneis Hundred, 143

Coltishall (Norf), population, 321

Coo, Sir John, the Mary priest,
Nayland, 227

Cook, Richard, fishing-boat owner,
107

-, Walter, 107

—, William, lawyer, 219

Cooke, Dr William, rector of Hitcham,
283

~, Thomas, of Bury St Edmunds,
tailor, 212

Coote, Mr, of Bury St Edmunds,
schoolmastcr, 220

Goove, Robert, of Westhall, 305

Copinger Hill, Revd Henry, 186

Copping, John, separatist, 214, 215

Corsini, Filippo, diarist, 338

Cosford Incorporation, financing of
workhouses, 353

Cottingham, Lewis Nockalls, architect,
252

Court-hall, 285

Coventry, Holy Trinity church, organ
at, 20

Cowper, Robert, of Nayland, clothier,
227,230, 231, 232, 234

Cox, Christopher, of Bury St
Edmunds, grocer, 214

Crabbe, George, poet, 360

Cranc family, of Walsham-lc-Willows,
330

Cranemere (Cranmer), family, of
Walsham-le-Willows, 328, 330

Craske, Walter, of Waisham, miller,
330

—, John, son of Walter, 330

Crawley, Ambrose, of Barking Hall,
171

Cristmesse, Waliter of Walsham-le-
Willows, 329

Croftes, Joan, 312

—, Thomas, of Westhall, 311, 312,
Arms, 311, PL XXIVb

Cromwell, Thomas, 228

Crowe, Edmund, of Beccles, 33

Crowficld, All Saints church
restoration, 48, 52

Crust, Joan, of Westhall, 313

Culford, 368

—, flints, 149

Cullum family, of Hawstead Place and
Hardwick House, 286, 287

-, Revd Sir John, 286, 287

Cupper, Stephen, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 330

Cutler, Benjamin, 128

—,John, son of Roger, 131n

—, Richard, of Ipswich, 124

-, Robert, Ipswich merchant, 124

-, Roger, Ipswich merchant, 124, 125,
126, 127,128, 131n

—, Samuel, Ipswich merchant, 125, 127

-, William, Ipswich merchant, 125

D

Danby, Sir Christopher, 225, 229

Darby, John, of Gislingham, 88

—, Mary, 88

-, Revd ] W, of Shottisham, 49

-, Revd W W, of Shottisham, 49

Darell, Capt Nathanicl, governor of
Landguard, 83

Darmsden (Barking), excavations, 158

Darsham, All Saints church
restoration, 52, 53

— ——, font now at Sibton Abbey, 291

-, Manor, 303

David, Master, rector of Bacton, 97,
98, 99

Davidson, S, excavations at Snape,
182

Davy, David Elisha, 15, 49, 284, 291

Day, Sir John, episcopal commissary at
Bury St Edmunds, 210

-, Isaac, Ipswich clothier, 126, 129

—, William, 110

Daynes, Thomas, of Beccles, puritan,
37

Deane, Miss Charlotte (Lottie),
headstone at Hintlesham, 174

Debenham, Crow’s Hall, 204

~, horse-harness pendant, 149-150,
tllus 152

-, piracy, 108

—, Ulveston Hall visited, 285

Defoc, Danicl, 342

de Burgh, Hubert, 305

——, Thomas, vicar of Westhall, 309

Deeth, family of Walsham-le-Willows,
330

de Gray, John, Bishop of Norwich, 96

Deneys family, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 327, 330

~, Sir Philip, of Tannington Hall, 287

410

Dennington, Moat Farm, 395, 398,
map detail 398

-, Pyeshall manor, 395, 398

Dennis, William, separatist, of
Thetford, 215

Denny, Sir Anthony, of Cheshunt
(Herts), 115,117

Densy (Dense), William, Prior of
Ixworth, 14-16

De Saumarez family, 82

de Valognes, Gunnora, 93, 96

- —, Peter, 95

--, Robert, 93, 97, 100

- -, Roger, 95

- -, William, 99

Distribution map of excavated sites,
180

Doggett family, 288

Doggetts, Stradbroke, visited, 288

Dormour family of Walsham-le-
Willows, 331

Dovecotes, 172, 395-6, 398

Drenge, Stephen, 107

Drinkstone, All Saints church
restoration, 49, 52

-, ridge-and-furrow carthworks, 258

Drury family, of Hawstead Place, 286,
287

-, Robert, of Rougham, 208

-, Thomas, gent, 139

Dunstable, Prior of, 100

Dunwich, 103, 104, 106, 111

-, deanery, 303

-, Forest, 378

-, town accounts, 103, 106

Dyar, William of Bury St Edmunds,
200

E

Eadwald, King of East Anglia, coin
found at Coddenham, 257

Earl Soham, piracy, 108

East and West Flegg Incorporation
(Norf), financing of workhouse, 353

Eastland Company, exporters, 125,
126, 128

Easton, Adam, cardinal and rector of
Hitcham, 283

Easton Bavents, 106

- -, finds, 62

Echeman family, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 331

Eden, Sir Frederick Morton, 356

Edgar family, 395, 397, 398

—, Myles, of Cranley Hall, Eye, 395,
397

Edward the Confessor, legend of|
carving at Wordwell, 368, P/
XXVilb

Edwards, Henry, first master of
Ampton Hospital, 84



Edwardson, A R, curator of Moyses
Hall Museum, 184

Edwardstone, finds, 258

Egham (Surrey), church pulpit from
Little Livermere, 85

Elder, Charles, builder of Wicklewood
(Norf) workhouse, 358

Eldred, Philip, 132n

Eliot, James, merchant of London, 170

Elliot, Thomas, Master of His
Majesty’s Harriers, 345

Elmsett, coin finds, 62

Eimswell, St John the Divine church
restoration and enlargement, 48,
52

Elmy, Mr Wm, curer of sores, Beccles,
37

Elveden, excavations, 182

-, finds, 150

Ely, Bishops of; 194, 195

Elys, Alice, of Walsham-le-Willows,
331

Empole’s manor, Westhall, 304, 311,
312

English, Mr, of Coddenham, builder,
48

Eriswell, find, 62, finds 150

Erwarton — se¢ Arwarton

Estye, George, of Bury St Edmunds,
preacher, 219

Eton College, 83

Euston, Bronze Age pits excavated,
384

-, church rebuilding, 139, 141n

-, Hall, 138, 139

-, medieval site, ditches excavated, 384

-, rectors, 13442

-, to Cambridge water main, survey
and monitoring of route, 3824

Evelyn, John, diarist, 139

Evered, John, Long Melford clothier,
127,131

—, Thomas, Glemsford clothier, 127,
130

Evison, V, excavations, 184

Ewin, ‘old’, poor man of Beccles, 42

Excursions 1988-91, 82-9, 167-75,
283--92, 393-401

Eye castle, excavations, 182, 267

— -, motte, excavations, 267

~—, outer bailey ditch, 150

-, Cranley Hall and barns visited,
395-98, map 396, plan 397

-, workhouse, 353

Eyke, All Saints church restoration, 49,
52,53

-, pottery scatter, 131

F

Fakenham Magna, finds, 62
—, (Norf), Prior of, 99
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Falkenham Vicarage, 244, 247

Farm-buildings, 172, 194, 196, map
197, plan 198, 204, 285~7, Pl XVa,
395-7, maps 396-7

Farrer, Revd, Edmund of Botesdale,
186, 189

Farrow, Thomas, builder, 47

Felix, St, 66

Felixstowe, 144

~, Archeological Movement, 184

—, flint arrowhead, 151

-, Landguard Fort visited, 83

Feltham, John, of Westhall, 313

-, Margaret, wife of John, 313

Felton (Feltham), Thomas, of Westhall,
313

Ferdinand II, Grand Duke of
Tuscancy, 338

Ferrey, Benjamin, architect, 45

Field Surveys, 66-70, 157, 263-5,
377-9

Fielding, Sir George, Earl of Desmond,
137, 138,139

—, William, 1st Earl of Denbigh, 137

Fiennes, Celia, 340, 341

—, family, of Hitcham, 200, 204

-, Elenore, née Jenny, wife of Sir
Robert, 199

-, Sir Richard of Herstmonceaux, 199

—, (Fenys), Sir Robert, of Hitcham,
193, 199

Finborough, Gt, Iron Age/Roman
ditch, 384

- —, sunken track and adjacent feature,
62

- —, undated earthwork platform
investigated, 384

Fishing, coastal, after Black Death,
102-114

FitzWalter, Christiana, daughter of
Robert, 99

-, Robert, 96, 97, 99, 100

-, William, 97

Flempton, finds, 62

-, lead seal matrix, 373

Fletcher, Nathaniel, director of Loes &
Wilford Incorporation, 354

Flintard, Sara, of Walsham-lc-Willows,
332

Flixton, field survey, 66-69, map 67

-, flint axe, 151

—, Hall, 68

-, Newhall, 68

-, Park, 65

— —, excavation of round barrow, mill
foundation and other features,
268-9

~—, glass claw beaker in burial, 268

-, pottery scatter, 151

-, Priory, 66, 68

-, puddingstone quern, silver sceat and
Ipswich ware finds, 373

411

Flowton, gilt bronze strap-end, 258

-, Rectory, 244, 247, PI XVIlg

Forchoe Incorporation (Norf),
financing of workhouse 353, 361

Fornham All Saints, disc brooch, 62

———, lead cloth seal, 258

~ ——, seal matrices, 373

Fornham St Martin, lead bulla, 373

Foxhall, Iron Age enclosure and
adjacent Anglo-Saxon settlement
excavated, 384-6, plan 385

Framlingham Earl (Norf), Norman
mouldings, 302

Framlingham Castle, 339, 346n

— -, excavations, 182, 184

-, church, early organ, 18-30, illus 22,
28,26, Pis IIL IV

-, finds, 374

—, Iron Age site excavation, 72

—, tin ampulla, 62

Framsden, Boundary Farm, early
garden features recorded, 269

— ——, visited, 395

-, piracy, 108

-, St Mary’s church visited, 395

Frating (Essex), 97

Frauncey’s family, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 331

Freckenham, Iron Age and Roman
features discovered, 269

Freke, Edmund, Bishop of Norwich,
208, 209, 210, 218

Fressingfield, 122

-, fieldwalking, 377

—, flint arrowhead, 151

-, Great Whittingham Green, 377

-, pottery scatters, 377

Frewer, James, of Ipswich, stone
carver, 48

Friston, 105

—, finds, 258

Fritton, church apse, 300

—, stratification, 298

Frostenden churches, 304

Fulcher, Thomas, of Debenham,
builder of workhouses, 357, 358,
359, 363

Fullar, Edmunde, of Bury St
Edmunds, 220

Fuller family, of Walsham-le-Willows,
330, 331

-, Margaret, of Walberswick, boat
owner, 106

Fynes, John, skipper, 106

Fyssher, Thomas, rector of Hitcham,
193, 284

G
Gage, Sir Thomas, excavations at

Risby, 182
Gainsborough Old Hall (Lincs), 283
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Gardens, early, 84-5, 117, map 120,
269, 287, 394-8, maps 396, 398 &
400, 401

Gascoigne, Sir Bernard, 343

Gayton, James, Bury St Edmunds,
preacher, 208, 210, 211, 214

Gedgrave, finds, 258

-, visited, 86

Gentleman, Tobias, of Southwold, 125

George 11, King, 343

Gibbons, Mr, of Crowfield, builder, 48

— -, of Earl Stonham, wood carver, 50

Gibbs family, of Horkesley (Essex), 225

Gibson, Thomas, of Bury St Edmunds,
bookbinder, 214

Gifford’s Hall, Stoke-by-Nayland, 167

Gilbert family, of Walsham-le-Willows,
317, 318, 331

—, Thomas, 351

Gilbert Unions, 351

Gilds, 13, 314, 169

Gillingham (Norf), 32

—, church, central tower, 300

——, Norman mouldings, 302

Gilyard-Beer, R, excavations, 184

Girling, Isaac, of Beccles, 42

Gisleham, Bloodmoor Hill
excavations, 182

—, bronze seal matrices, 258

-, gold quarter stater, 151-2

Gislingham, Anthony, Ipswich
clothier, 129

Gislingham, St Mary’s church,
investigations beneath medieval
pews, 386

— ———, visited, 88

Glass claw beaker at Flixton, 268

Glemham, Little, {inds, 258

~—, lead scal matrix, 258

Glemsford, flint axe, 258

-, lead ampulla ex Walsingham, 258

Gloucester Cathedral, choir and south
transept, 310

Goche family, of Walsham-le-Willows,
326, 331

—, Thomas, vicar of Westhall, 314n

Godbolt, Mr, of Brockdish (Norf),
wood carvery, 46, 47

Gold coin finds in West Suflolk, 263

-, ring from Coddenham, 61, #lius 61

—, rings found at Great Wratting,
55-57

Gooch, Thomas, a Blything
Incorporation director, 354

Goodrich, Thomas, of Bury St
Edmunds, 210

Goodwyn, John, Ipswich clothier, 126

Gornia, Giovanni Battista, 338, 343

Gosbeck, bronze seal matrices, 258

—, finds, 152

Goseford haven, 103, 108, 110

Gosse, William, of Dunwich, 103

Grafion, first Duke of] 138

Gray, John, 232

Gray, John de, Bishop of Norwich, 96

Grayston, Matthew, of Woodbridge,
builder of workhouses, 357, 358,
359, 363

Greenwell, Canon William, barrow
digger, 182

Gregory IX, Pope, 98, 99

Gregory X, Pope, 100

Gresham, Anne, wife of Thomas, 170

—, Sir Richard, 170

—, Sir Thomas, 170

Gressenhall (Norf), workhouse, 353,
355-6, 361

Grey family, 397, 398

-, Henry, 397-8

Grimwood, William, of Hitcham, 192

Grindle Lane, Bramford, 173, Pl XI

Groome, Margaret, née Ignes, 192

Groton, bronze seal matrix, 258

Grundisburgh, Lyttleton Meadow,
house platform, 152

-, St Mary’s church restoration, 51, 53

-, silver penny, Leicester mint, 152

Gryce, William, 194

Grymwade, John, of Hitcham, 194

—, William, 128

Gyle, Cecily, of Westhall, 313

Gyppes, John, of Bury St Edmunds,
219

H

Hacheston, 11

-, excavations, 181, 182

Haddiscoe (Norf), Norman doorway,
298

—, mouldings, 300

Hadlond, Robert, of Bury St
Edmunds, 216

Hadleigh Feoffees, 231

-, lead seal matrix, 62

-, St John and St Thomas Gilds, 31

Hakewill, Edward Charles (1812-72),
architect, 45-54

-, Henry (1771-1830), architect, 45

-, James, (younger brother of Henry),
painter and decorator, 43

-, John, painter and decorator, 45

-, John Henry (1811-80), architect,
45-54

Hales (Norf ) church, apse, 300

-, Norman mouldings, 302

Hales, Thomas, Ipswich clothier, 126,
129, 132n

Halesworth, excavations, 73, 159, 160,
269, 386-7

—, flint axe, 152

Hall, Joseph, Bishop, 286

Hammond, Henry, of Bury St
Edmunds, 212
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Hamco of Calthorpe, rector of Bacton,
99, 100

Hamund family, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 330, 331, 333

Handson, John, Bury preacher, 208,
210,211, 214, 219

Hanham (Hannam) family, 194

-, Agnes, née Reeve, 193

—, Christopher, of Hitcham, 192, 193,
194

-, Edmund, of Hitcham, 193

Hanmer, William, married at
Hawstead Place 1675, 287

Hardon family, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 331

Hardwick House, Hawstead, 287

~, Philip, architect, 45

Harkstead, finds, 62, 374

Harper, John of Hitcham Hall, 193

Harris and Fish, builders of
workhouses, 358

-, John of Ipswich, builders of
workhouses, 358, 339

Harrison family, of Bury St Edmunds,
251-253

-, John, of Bury St Edmunds, linen
draper, 252

~ -, separatist, 208

Hart, Henry, 231

Hartest, triangular bronze mount, 374,
illus 373

Hartismere, Hoxne and Thredling
Incorporation, financing of
workhouse, 353

Hartismere hundred and rural
deanery, 95

—, rural Dean of] 98, 99

Harwich (Essex), 338, 339, 343, 346n

Hasketon, bronze chisel, 152

—, bronze palstave, 374

—, disc brooch, 258

Haverhill, organ at, 20

—, site of St Botolph’s church,
exploratory trenches, 387

Hawes, Robert, historian, 21, 24

Hawstead, All Saints church visited,
286

-, Guildhall, 286

-, Place, 204, 286-7

-, Place Farmhouse, 287

Hawys family, of Walsham-le-Willows,
325, 330, 331

Heckingham (Norf') church, apse, 300

- —, Norman mouldings, 302

-, workhouse, 353, 356, 358, 359, 361

— -, original plans for, 356

——, description of, 360

Heigham, Sir Clement, of Barrow,
203, 204

Hclewys family, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 332

Helpe family, of Walsham, 332



Hemingstone, Roman coin, 62

— -, villa sitc excavations, 73

Hemley, 144

—, fieldwalking, 70

Henham Park, small medieval
settlement on site of new lake, 387

Henley, bronze axe fragment, 62

Henry I, King, 95

Henry 111, King, 305

Henry VII, King, 199

Henslow, Prof John Stevens, rector of
Hitcham, 182, 283

Henstead, Norman mouldings, 300

-, south doorway, 298

Hepworth, bronze scal matrix, 132

-, flint axes, 258

-, pottery finds, 62

Hereford, Viscount, 341, 342

Herewake family, of Walsham-lc-
Willows, 331, 332, 333

Herring, 102, 114

-, prices, 110, 111

Herringbone bricknogging at Badley
Hall, 171

——~Moat Hall, Parham, 400

Hessett, organ remains, 18, 20

Hetch, ‘Old’, of Beecles, 42

Hethewarmoot, 102, 103, 104, 103,
107,111

Hickling (Norf), swan-mark, 144

Higham (Heigham), Sir John, 208,
209, 215, 217, 218, 219, 220

-, Richard, of Bury St Edmunds, 219

Hill, Sylvester, of Bury St Edmunds,
baker, 212, 213

Hinderclay, Boy Bishop token, 258-9

-, bronze axe and other finds, 152

— —, socketed axc, 239

—; excavations, 179

—, finds, 62-3, 258-9, 374

-, heraldic harness pendant, 374, iflus
372

-, seal matrices, 152, 259

Hindesham, church of St Nicholas
visited, 174

—, Hall, visited, 174

Hitcham, All Saints church wvisited,
283-4

—, Brick House Farm, 186-96, 284,
tllus 188, 190, 191, Pls Xllla & b,
X1Va

-, chapel of St Margaret, 194

-, Hall, 194

-, Hill Farm, 193

-, Lower Farm Barn, 194

—, Plains Farm, 194

-, The Old House, visited, 284

—, two Tudor Houses in, 186-207

—, Wetherden Hall, 196-204, 283,
284, illus 197, plans 197, 198, Pls
XIVb, XVa & b

Holton church, 303
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Honington, lead seal matrix, 63

Honorius 111, Pope, 97, 98

Hopton, finds, 374

Horn, Alex, of Walsham-le-Willows,
336

Horninghold, Henry, of Bury St
Edmunds, 210

Howard, Agnes, née Tilney, 19, 21

-, Bernard, of Newmarket, 345

-, Elizabeth, née Tilney, 19

—, first Duke of Norfolk, 20

~, Henry, Duke of Richmond, 20, 28

—,John, of Bury St Edmunds, petticoat
maker, 220

-, Thomas, second Duke of Norfolk,
19, 25, 27, 28, Arms of, 25

Hoxne, excavations, 181

Huddle, Henry, 107

Hugh, Abbot of Bury St Edmunds, 98

Humberstone Abbey (Lincs), 303, 309

Hundred River, 102

Huntingdon Priory, 100

I

Icenian coins found, 61-2, 152, 239,
263

Icklingham, 11

—, All Saints church visited, 172-3

-, continental near forgery of an
English penny, 374

-, excavations, 181, 384

-, Iron Age pits excavated, 384

—, silver Icenian coin and bronze
palstave, 152

Icknicld Way at Barnham, 382

Ignes, Robert, of Bury St Edmunds,
goldsmith, 192

lken, Rectory (The Anchorage), 244,
247

—, Roman site, 378

-, St Botolph’s monastery, 378

Ilketshall St John, bronze terret ring,
152-3, 135

~ - =, The Mount, castle motte,
visited, 169

Ilketshall St Margaret, potiery scatters,
63

Incorporated Church Building Society,
45,49

Ingham, Prior of, swan-mark, 144

-, Roman settlement excavation, 182

Innocent 111, Pope, 96, 97

Ipswich, Alexandra Park, 344

~, Boss Hall, early Saxon inhumation
and cremation cemetery cxcavated,
269-71

—, bronze harness-fitting, 259

-, Butter Market and St Stephens Lane
exavations, 74

—, Castle Hill, Whitton, trial trenches
ncar Roman villa site, 73, 160

413

-, Christ’s Hospital School, Wherstead
Road, 240, 242, 246, illus 241

-, claypipe workshop site cxcavated,
161

-, Coffee Houses, 343, 347-8nn

-, Corn Exchange plans, 247

-, Crown & Anchor Hotel, Westgate
Street, 244-5, 247, PL XVII]

-, Custom House, 243, 244, 246, 247,
340, tllus 242

—, excavations, 181, 182

-, {lint arrowheads, 153

-, Franscican Way/Wolsey Street,
cxcavation of Middle Saxon and
later Greyfriars site, 271-3

-, Grey Coat School, investing in
Samford Incorporation, 355

-, Greyfriars Road site excavated, 160

-, Handford Bridge Road, 342

-, Inns, 342-3, 347

-, Ipswich Savings Bank, Qucen
Street, 247

-,James Cottage (170 Woodbridgc
Road), 245, 248, Pl X1Xb

-, Lower Brook Street/Foundation
Street excavation, 74

—, Mcchanics Institution, Tavern
Strect, 247

-, Muscum, 179, 182, 183, 184, 185

-, Neptune Quay, Fore Street
excavations, 161

-, piracy, 108

-, polin-type coin find, 259

-, Rhynwick Lodge (170 Woodbridge
Road), 245, 248, Pl XIXb

—, Roman scttiement off Tuddenham
Road, excavated, 387-8

-, St Lawrence’s church, 247

-, St Stephen’s church, 247

—, 24 Tavern Street, 243, 247, Pl XVia

—, The Albany, Tuddenham Road,
Roman settlement excavated, 387-8

-, “The Casino’, Woodbridge Road,
240, 245, 248, Pl X1Xb

-, The Mount, 246

-, Tooley and Smart almshouses, 244,
247, Pl XVIIb

-, Town Council Chamber, 247

—, Town Hall, 340

-, view of, in 1669, 338, 343-5, 348n,
PLXXVI

-, Ware, 70, 262, 277, 372, 373, 376,
386

—, windmills, 345, 348n

Isaac, Edward, 228, 229

Isabel, William, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 332

Islington, 339

Ive, John, Prior of Ixworth, 16

Iveson, Elizabeth, 192

-, Siephen, of Bath and Hitcham,
192
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Ixworth, excavation of Roman burials
at Dover Farm, 182

—, gild of St Thomas, 13

-, inscribed tiles at church, 13-17, tllus
14, P11

-, lead bulla and medallion re Admiral
Vernon, 153

-, Prior of, 316

Ixworth Thorpe, ficldwalking, 377-8

- —, pottery scatters, 377-8

J

James, Dr M R, 85

—, William, 229

Jaquet { Jacket), Mr, of London, stone
mason/carver, 48, 50

Jay family, of Walsham-le-Willows,
332

Jeafferson, Revd, 356

Jellowe, Catherine, daughter of
William, 213

-, William, of Bury St Edmunds,
tanner, 212, 213, 216

Jenny, John, Master of Brundish
Chantry, 199, 287

~, Sir Edmund, of Knodishall, 199

~, Sir William, K B Judge, of
Knedishall, 199

Jerico, Bartholomew, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 332

Jermyn, John, of Bury St Edmunds,
218

-, Sir Robert, 208, 209, 210, 215, 218,
220

John, King, 96, 97

~, Bishop of Oxford, 96

Johnson, John, of Bury St Edmunds,
architect, 47

-, William, of Bury St Edmunds, 212,
213, 214, 215

Judde, Andrew, 170

K

Katharine of Aragon, Queen, 168

Kcbbil family, of Walsham-le-Willows,
332

Kedington, ficldwalking, 378

—, flint axe, 378

-, Ipswich ware sherd, 63

Kelly, T C, Col (USAF), excavations,
179, 183, 184

Kelsale, manor, 303

-, Norman mouldings, 302

Kclvedon (Essex), 339

Kembald family, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 332, 333

Kembold, Thomas, 192

Kemp, Mr, of Stonham Aspal, builder,
50

Kempe, George, 218

Kent, John, of Bury St Edmunds,
maltster, 213

-, Thomas, of Bury St Edmunds, 214

Kenton, All Saints church restoration,
31,53

-, church cast window, 48, 51, 53

-, Garneys Chantry, 395

Kentwell Hall, 196, 203

Kersey, St Mary’s church, north aisle
chapel surveyed and recorded, 273

Kesgrave, ficidwalking, 69

Kessingland, manorial and water leet
records, 112

-, monumental brass fragment, 153

kiln, pottery, at Stowmarket, 1-12,
llus 7, 8, PL1

Kirton, Icenian gold stater, 259

Kitson, Sir Thomas, 208, 218

Knappe, John, Ipswich clothicr, 124,
127,130

-, Robert, Ipswich merchant, 124,
125,127,128, 130

Knettishall, finds, 153

Knights of St john of Jerusalem,
Preceptory at at Battisford, 170, 200

Ku family, of Walsham-le-Willows,
332

L

Lackford, cxcavations, 181, 182

-, pottery finds, 259

Lakenheath, Fenland Survey, 69

—, flints, 133

-, Ieenian silver coin, 374

-, quern, 133

—, rare La Tene I bronze brooch, 374,
tllus 375

-, Roman bronze cauldron, 239

Lambeth parish church, Howard
burials, 21

Landguard Fort, 339, 346n

Langham, St Mary’s church
restoration and rebuilding, 52, 53

Lanvalen, Geoffrey de, parson of
Bacton, 96

Lavers & Barraud, stained glass
windows by, 49, 50

Lawshall, pottery kiln wasters, 1534

Laxfield, organ remains, 18, 20

Layham, bronze finds, 154

— — palstave, 374, illus 374

Lay Subsidy returns, 321

Lectures 1988-1991, 89, 175, 292, 402

Lee, Baptist, of Livermere, 84

-, Thomas, of Kensington and Lite
Livermere, 84

Leicester, Earl of, rebellion of 1173,
169

Leiston, 103, 112

—, Abbey, 107, 398

- —, excavation of Guesten Hall, 273

414

-, finds, 375

-, remains of barge dredged up at
Sizewell, 259

Lene family, of Walsham-le-Willows,
330, 334

Le Neve, Peter, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 333

Lenne, Robert, of Walsham, 332

Lethbridge, T C, excavations, 179, 184

Letheringham, finds, 375

-, Hall, 401

-, Lodge, wisited, 401

Lewis, Robert, of Bury St Edmunds,
preacher, 219

Liberty of St Edmundsbury, 210

Liberty of St Ethcldreda, 200, 201, 378

Lichficld Cathedral, choir, 310

Lidgate, {lint axc, 63

Litte, Richard, 229

Livermere, Great, St Peter’s church
visited, 84

- ~, silver penny, 259

-, Little, 84-5

— -, St Peter’s church ruin visited, 85

Lloyd family at Hintlesham Hall, 174

Lockwood, Albert, of Woodbridge,
builder, 244

Loddon and Clavering Incorporation
(Norf), financing of workhouse, 353

Loces and Wilford Incorporation,
financing of workhouse, 352, 333,
354, 359, 363

London, St Clement Dancs, 46

-, St Mary lc Strand, 46

Lone, Roger, of Beccles, 37

Long, Peter Bartholomew, Mayor of
Ipswich, 238

Long Melford, bronze ring, 63

- ~, terret ring, 154, tllus 149

- -, coin finds, 375

— -, excavation of Roman villa, 161

——, gold coin, 63

— -, organ at, 20

Losinga, Herbert de, Bishop of
Norwich, 93

Love, Richard of Westhall, 313

~, Alice, wile of Richard, 313

Lowestoft, herring prices, 111

-, manorial and water leet rccords, 112

Lufl, Henry, of Ipswich, builder, 48,
49, 50, 51, 53

M

Macky, John, 341

Magalotti, Count Lorenzo, secretary
to Prince Cosimo de Medici, 338,
343

Makins, widow, of Beccles, 37

Malet, Robert, of Eye, 289

Man, le family, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 331, 332



Manning, John, 107

-, Thomas, Suflragan Bishop of
Ipswich, 115, 118

Margery family, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 322, 332

Market Weston, flint axe, 375

- -, pottery finds, 154

Martin, Thomas, of Palgrave, 13, 15

Martlesham, seal matrices, 63

Mathew, John, of Wiggenhall (Norf),
138

—, Robert, rector of Euston and
formerly of St Andrew in the
Wardrobe, 138, 139, 140

Maule, John, Nayland Feoffee, 230,
231,232

Maxwell-Gumbleton, M F, Bishop of
Dunwich, 2834

Maynard, G, curator of Ipswich
Museurn, 184

Medici, Prince Cosimo (III) de, 338-50

Medland family, 239

—, James, architect and builder, 239

Meclier, Isabel, of Walsham-le-Willows,
333

Melton, pottery and metalwork finds,
157

-, workhouse, 333, 357, 358, 361, 362,
263

Mendham, finds, 375

Mendlesham, bronze horse-hamess
pendant, 259, illus 257

-, bronze palstave, 375

— -, seal matrices, 259

- -, tanged knife, 259

—, finds, 260

-, pottery scatters, quern and flints, 154

-, triangular bronze mount, 375, dlus
373

Metcalf family, 286

Metficld, pottery finds, 154

Mettingham Castle, 115-23, P/ VI

~ -, location map, 121

- -, plans, 116, 118, 120

— —, visited, 169

Mickfield, excavation within
redundant St Andrew’s church,
161-2

Middleton, Hon Lady, 48

-, Sir William, excavations at
Baylham, 182

Milden, querns and other finds, 260

Mildenhall, Barrow Inn, 214

-, coin finds, 154, 155

-, coins and other finds, 375

-, finds, 63

-, High Lodge Palaeolithic site
excavation, 74-6, 181, 185

—, Isleham Marina, pottery find, and
stone axe or pendant, tlus 148,
154-5

-, lead seal matrices, 63, 260
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-, Museum, 184

-, Warren Hill, excavations, 182

———, flint ace, 260

— ——, Gravel Pits Palaeolithic Site
excavations, 2734

Miller, Richard, surveyor to Forehoe
Incorporation, 358

Minsmere River, 102

Mitford and Launditch Incorporation
(Norf), financing of workhouse, 353

Moated houses, visited, 170, 284-7,
289, 395-401

Moats, 66, map 67, 68, 70, plan 116,
117, plan 120, 121-2, 196-204, plans
197 & 203, Pl XVb, 285-89,
295-401, plans 396-8 & 400

—, brick-lined, 196, plan 197, 286, Pl
XVb, 389, plan 400

Moir J, Reid, of Ipswich Museum, 182,
183, 184

Monck, George, general, 338, 339

Monks Eleigh, bronze scal matrix, 63

- -, finds, 63

- -, tip of bronze spearhead, 260

More, Richard, of Bury St Edmunds,
216

Moreff, John, of Dunwich, boat owner,
106, 107

Morrice, William, 228, 229

Mosse, Miles, Bury St Edmunds,
preacher of St James’, 215, 219

Mountain, H, of Bury St Edmunds,
builder, 214

Mumplayne, William, of Bury St
Edmunds, 214

Munnes, Thomas, of Beccles, linen
weaver, 38

Mutford and Lothingland
Incorporation, financing of
workhouse, 353

Mutford, double-sided lcad seal
matrix, 260

N

Nacton, Broke Hall, 82
—, Orwell Park, 82
-, St Martin’s church visited, 83
—, silver sceatia, 63
—, workhouse, 353, 335, 361, 362, 364
— -, early plans of, 356
Nash, Mr, of London, woodcarver,
- 252
Naunton, Robert, of Letheringham,
202
Nayland, 31
-, Abell’s Bridge, 229, 232
—, Alston Court visited, 167-8
-, church of St James, visited, 168-9
- -, Rood and Rood Ioft, 230
-, Fennages, 229
-, Feoffees, 33, 40, 41, 225-37

415

-, fire engine, 234

-, first school in, 234

-, Holy Trinity Gild, 31, 226, 228

-, Pest House, 234

—, Plod Brigge, 168

-, St Mary Gild, 223, 226

-, St Thomas Gild, 31, 226, 228

Needham Market church restoration,
52,53

Negus, Thomas, of Stanstead, clothier,
126,127,131, 132n

Nelson, Thomas Marsh, of Great
Yarmouth, architect, 238

Newcommen, Charles, 194

New Hall (Essex), 338, 339

Newman, William, of Higham,
clothier, 130

Newmarket, 338

—, Prince Cosimo de’Medici in, 345-6

-, Rowley’s Mile, 345

Nicholas IV, Pope, 95

Nicholas of Dunwich, 305

Noble, John, of Walsham-le-Willows,
336

Norburn, Richard, rector of Ampton,
83

Noreys family, of Walsham-le-Willows
333

Norfolk, Dukes of, 105, 106, 218, 226,
289

———, Swan-mark, 144

Norman doorways, 298, 300-2, 367-9,
illus 299, 301, Pls XXVIla & b,
XXVille & b

North, Mrs Peregrine, married to
William Hanmer at Hawstead Place
chapel, 287

Northampton, St Peter’s church,
Romanesque carving of tree of life,
367

Norton, fins, 64

Norwich, Carnary Chapel, 308, 309,
310, 311

-, Cathedral, Norman mouldings, 302

-, Lazar Chapel, 302

—, Prior and Convent of, 308, 309, 312

- to Aylsham turnpike trust, 334

Norwich family, 113, 117

~—,arms, 117

-, Lord, 115

—, Sir John de, 115, 122

—, Walter de, 122

(o]

Oakley, bronze harness pendant, 260

Ode, Hugo, of Thorpe, 107

Odeham, Margaret, of Bury St
Edmunds, 216

Odham, Peter, of Dunwich, ship’s
master, 107

Oflton, find, 375
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Old Newton, cremation finds, 9, 12

- -, flint axe, 153

Old Radnor (Powys), organ at, 28

Onehouse, workhouse, 353, 356, 357,
358, 361

Orford, bronze and lead seal matrice,
260

-, flints and other finds, 260

-, haven, 110

-, lead seal matrix, 375

—, St Bartholomews’s church visited,
86-7

-, visited, 86

Organ, early, at Framlingham, 18-30
ilus 22, 23, 26, Pls III, IV

d’Orleans, Marguerite-Louise, 338

Orwell haven, 108, 110

-, river, 339

Osbern family, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 333

Otley, fieldwalking, 69

-, finds, 376

-, Ipswich- and Thetford-type wares,
376

-, pottery scatter, 260

Oulton church, central tower, 300

~, workhouse, 353, 361

Owles, Elizabeth, archaeologist, 184

’

P

Packard, John, of Walsham-le-Willows,
332

Page, Augustine, master of Ampton
Hospital, 84

Paine, Ambrose, shipper, 127

Pakefield, manorial and water leet
records, 112

Pakenham, 9, 11

—, bronze horse mount, 155, illus 150

-, excavations, 181

-, Redcastle excavations, 182

-, Vicarage (now Mulbery House), 140

Pakke, John, of Thorpe, 106

Palaeolithic excavations, 74-6, 181,
182, 185, 265, 2734, 278, 379-81

Palgrave, pottery finds, 376

Pareys, Adam, of Beccles, 33

-, Margery, 33

Parham, finds, 376

-, Moat Hall, 196

— ——, visited, 399-401, plan 400

Parish, Thomas, 232

Parke, Robert, of Hitcham, 192

Parker, John, 347n

-, Robert, of Bramford, 347n

Parkhurst, George, Ipswich clothier,
127, 131

Parrys of Yarmouth, craltsman, 39

Patyl family, 325, 326, 327, 3334

Payn family, of Walsham-le-Willows,
334

Payne, Anthony, of Bury St Edmunds,
218

-, Henry, of Bury St Edmunds, JP, 218

Pembroke College, Cambridge, 18, 21

Pentney (Norf'), Prior of, 97

Percevall, Sir John, first Lord Egmont,
340, 341

Pertre, Robert del, and Richard del, of
Walsham-le-Willows, 334

Petre, William, Lord, 339, 343

Pettistree, brooches and other finds,
260

-, gilt bronze harness pendant, 260

Petto, Edmund, of Bramford, 17th
century bricklayer, 88

Petyt, Agnes, of Walsham-le-Willows,
335

Peyntour family, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 334

Peyton, Christopher, of Bury St
Edmunds, 217

—, Thomas, of Bury St Edmunds, 217

Phillips, Miss March, of Hitcham Hall,
284

Phipson, Richard M, of Ipswich,
architect, 87, 240, 243, 399

Pidclak, Adam, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 332, 333

Pieshale, John, Chantry at Brundish,
287

Pigg, Oliver, puritan minister, 208

Piggott, widow, of Beccles, 42

-, Richard, of Nayland, clothier, 169,
226

Piracy, 108,

Playford Mount, 46

Plott, Thomas, 343

Poley, Edmund, of Badley Hill, 171

-, Thomas, 218

Polly, William, of Coggeshall, wood
carver, 48

Polstecad, Roman tiles scatter, 260

Potter, Robert, 107

-, Roger, of Angel Inn, Bury St
Edmunds, 218

Pottery kilns, excavated, 182

Powse family, at Hintlesham Hall, 174

Prehistoric Society of East Anglia, 184

Preston St Mary, finds, 376

- ——, flint axe, 260

———, Roman floor tiles, 260

~——, pottery scatters, 260

Prestwick J, excavator, 182

Pretyman family, 82

Prigg, Henry, of Bury St Edmunds,
antiquary, 182, 183, Pl XII

Pritchett, G E, architect, 283

Purton Green Farmhouse, Stansficld,
288

Pyeshall manor, Dennington, 395, 398

Pynfoul, John and Hilary, of Walsharn-
le-Willows, 334
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Q

Qualm family, of Walsham-le-Willows,
334

Quaternary Research Association,
cxcavations, 273—4, 278

Quynte, Robert, of Beccles, 33

R

Rabbett family, of Bramficld, 289

Rampoyle family, 326, 327, 334-3,
336

Ramsey, John, mason, 310

-, William, mason and King’s mason,
310

Ramsholt, 144

-, Celtic bronze mount, 260, #llus 257

-, ficldwalking, 69

-, pottery scatiers and other finds,
260-1, 376

Rath, Geoffrey, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 324

Rattlesden, coin, 64

-, pottery scatter, 376

Raveningham (Norf'), College, 115

Raymond, George, Ipswich clothier,
126

Raynham, Gregory, of Nayland, 227,
228

-, John, of Nayland, 227

-, Robert, of Nayland, 230

-, Stephen, of Nayland, clothier, 226,
227,228,229

Reading (Berks), St Mary’s church,
246

Rede, William, of Beccles, 32

Redgrave, bronze seal matrix, 64

-, excavations, 182

-, finds, 64

-, part of bronze cruciform brooch,
261

-, seal, 258

Redgrave, John, surveyor to Suffolk
Incorporations, 357, 358

Redisham church, stratification in
walls, 298

—, manor, 303

Redlingfield Priory, visited, 87

-, St Andrew’s church, visited, 88

Redstone, V B, 124

Reeve, alias Mclford, John, Abbot of
Bury St Edmunds, 193

-, Nicholas, of Hitcham, 193

Remund, Thomas, rector of Hitcham,
283

Rendlesham, fieldwalking, 69

-, forest, 378

—, St Gregory’s church, visited, 86

Reydon churches, 304

Reynham {amily, of Nayland, 168

Rich, Sir Robert, bt, 34



Richard I, King, 199

Rickinghall, excavations, 179

~ Inferior, bronze flat axes and
spearhead fragment, 261

Ringham, Henry, of Ipswich, wood
carver, 251, 399

Ringsfield, coins, 376

-, Green, 33

Riots, workhouse, 359

Rishangles, find, 64

—, pottery scatter, 376

Robhood, Joha, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 328

Robinson Cornish, of North Walsham
(Norf), ecclesiastical builders and
carvers, 31

Roger, Archdeacon of Sudbury, 96

Rokewood (Rookwood), Edmund, of
Euston, 218, 225

~, Edward, of Coldham Hall, 134, 136,
139, 141

Rollesby {Norf'), workhouse, 333, 335,
361

Romanesque doorways, 298, 300-2,
367-9, Pls XXVIla & XXVIlla & b

Roos family, of Nayland, 168

Roose, Edward, of Nayland, 226

Rosse, Thomas, 229

Rougham, Eastlow tumulus
excavations, 182

Rous family, of Dennington, 200

-, John, 356

Royal Arms, restoration in Beecles, 39

Rudham (Norf), Prior of, 98, 99

Rumburgh, finds, 64

Rushbrooke Hall, 202-3, 204

Rushmere St Andrew, church
restoration and rebuilding, 47-8,
50, 52, 53

- ——, fragments of two bronze
brooches, 261

- ——, pottery finds, 157

Russell, Sir Giles, Master of Battisford
Preceptory, 170

- ——, Arms on terracotta plaque, 170,
Pl Xa

-, Sir John, of Strensham (Worc), 170

Russells, widow, of Beccles, 42

Ryche, Sir Richard, 228

Rysing, poor child, of Beccles, 42

S

Sackville, manor, Debenham, 285

Sadler, Thomas, of Westhall, 313

Safford family, 118

St Albans Abbey, 96

St Bennett (Norf), Abbot of, swan-
mark, 144

St Olaves, Prior of, swan-mark, 144

St Osyth (Essex), Abbot of, 97, 98

Sakings, William, royal falconer, 84
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Salmon, John, Bishop of Norwich, 309

Samford Incorporation, {inancing of
workhouse, 353, 354, 358, 359, 363

Santon Downham, cloisonné brooch,
155, dllus 153

~—, Hall Icehouse, 274-5

— -, ridge and furrow, 153

Sare family, of Walsham-le-Willows,
335

Saxham, Lady Roesia de, 324

Saxham Little, 85

— —, bronze figurine of Minerva, 261,
tllus 261

- -, linds, 64, 376

- -, silver gilt hook, 261

— -, scatter of pottery, coins and
metalwork, 261

Saxmundham, lead seal matrix, 261-2

Saye and Sele, Lord, 199

Scarborough (Yorks), 103, 104, 105,
106, 108, 109, 110

Schot, Robert, Abbot, 16

Schyrlocke, Richard of Badley, 171

Scottel, Robert, 231

Scrivener, family of Sibton, 291

Scrope family, 225

-, of Masham (Yorks), arms at
Nayland, 169

-, Lord, 227

-, Sir Henry, 3rd Lord, 169

-, Thomas, 6th Lord, Nayland, 168

Seckford, Thomas, 193, 196

-, Margaret, wife of Thomas, 195, 196

Semer, workhouse, 353, 361

Shannon, Royal Navy frigate, 82

Shardelowe, John, rector of Beccles, 37

Shelley, coins, 376

-, Hall, 195

Shelton, Richard, Master of
Mettingham College, 118, 122

—-——,Arms, 117,122

—, Sir Ralph, of Shelton (Norf), 122

Shipmeadow, workhouse, 353, 335,
356, 357, 358, 360, 361

Shipton, Richard of, Dean of Norwich,
98

Short, William, rector of Euston, 134,
133, 136, 137, 138, 139, 140, 141

~, Mary, wifc of William, 134

—,John, son of William, 134, 135

—, Mary (alias Ann), daughter of
William, 134, 135

-, Thomas, son of William, 134, 135,
140-1

~ -, father of William, of Bury St
Edmunds, 134

-, Richard, ‘Dr of Physicke’, 140

Shotley, bronze axe blade, 376

- bronze seal matrix, 262

— —terret ring, 155

- — Viking Ringerike-style plaque, 64,
illus 61

417

-, coins, 376

-, finds, 155

-, lead bale seal, 376

Shottisham, 144

~, coins and other finds, 262

-, fieldwalking, 70

-, font, 49

-, Ipswich Ware, 262

-, pottery scatter, 262

-, St Margaret’s church restoration,
49,52, 53

-, lead disc weights, 262

Shrive, Martin, of Ipswich White
Horse, 343

Sibton Abbey, 65

- —, ruins visited, 289-91, plan 290

—, bronze belt plate, 65, illus 64

— — seal matrix, 262

-, cruciform bronze brooch, 376

—, lead seal matrix, 64-5

-, St Peter’s church, cast window, 48,
51

— — — -, restoration, 31, 53

~ — - -, visited, 289

Simpson, Alan, Nayland Feoffee, 230

Sites and Monuments Record, 179

Sizewell, 102, 103, 104, 103, 107, 108,
109, 110, 111, 112

Skippon, Philip, diarist, 40

Smallburgh (Norf), workhouse, 353

-~ ~, early plans of, 356

Smedley, Norman, 184

Smith, John, of Needham Market,
clothier, 126, 127, 128, 130

-, Richard, of Ipswich, shearman, 128,
131

Smithyer (Smythier, Smithier), John, of
Ipswich, factor, 124, 126, 127, 128,
130, 131n

Smyth, Jankyn, of Bury St Edmunds,
216, 217

~, William, of Walsham-le-Willows,
331, 333, 335

Snape, Anglo-Saxon boat burials, 76,
182, 275, 388

— — — cemelery, excavation, 76, 162,
181, 275, 388-9, map 276

- ———, visited, 89

-, pottery scatter, 155

-, Priory, 106

Snelling, Robert, MP for Ipswich,
merchant, 126

Somerton, pottery scatter, 262

-, speculum mirror fragment, 262

Sotherton, manor, 305

Sotterley Hall, 393

-, St Margaret’s church, visited, 393

South East Suffolk Field Survey, 69,
157, 378-9

South Elmham St Cross, finds, 65

- —, St James, flint axc, 65

— ——, lead seal matrix, 376
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- -, St Margaret, bronze cruciform
brooch, 262

South Lopham (Norf), church, 302

Southwold, 103

—, Buss Creck, remains of wooden
vessels and a side rudder excavated,
389

—, church, 298

-, Clare manor, 103

Spencer, John, of Nayland, butcher,
226

Spexhall church, 303, 314n

-, lead seal matrix, 376

-, pottery scatter, 376

Spileman family, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 324, 333, 335

Sprats, 104, 105, 106, 111, 112

Spring, Sir John, of Hitcham, 200,
201, 283

-, Sir William, b, patron of
Pakenham, 135, 137

Springficld family, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 335

Sproughton, All Saints church visited,
174

Stafford, Robert, rector of Ampton
and Euston, and vicar of Pakenham,
135, 136, 138, 139, 140

-, Frances, wife of Robert, 136, 140,
141n

-, Dorothy, daughter of Robert, 140

-, Susanna, daughter of Robert, 137

-, Richard, vicar of Whelnetham,
rector of Woolverstone and father of
Robert, 135

Stalham Hall in Burgh, swan-mark,
144

Stanningfield, Coldham Hall, 134

Stansfield, Purton Green Farmhouse,
288

Stanstead, coin finds, 262

~, Langton Down brooch, 262

-, medieval pits on line of new water
main, 389

Stanton, fieldwalking, 379

~~, in Wyken area, 263-5, map 264

-, Iron Age pottery scatters, 379

-, Lay Subsidy return, 321

-, medieval pottery scatters, 379

-, pottery scatter, 135

-, silver coin of Athelstan I of E
Anglia, 26

-, two Roman sites, 379

Stasye, Thomas, of Bury St Edmunds,
214

Stephen, King, 169

Steward, Edward, of Teversham
(Cambs), 194

Still, Dr John, Archdeacon of Sudbury,
210

Stoke-by-Nayland church visited, 167

- ——, Gifford’s Hall, 167

— — -, pottery and tile scatters, 262

- —~, Tendring Hal}, 167

~~ =, Thorrington Hall, 167

Stone, Nicholas, sculptor, 289

Stonham Aspal, church restorations,
50-1,53

— —, coin finds, 63

Stonham family, of Walsham-lc-
Willows, 335

Stour, river, 339

Stoven, manor, 303

—, Norman mouldings, 300, 302

Stowe, Rural Dean of, 99

Stow Incorporation, financing of
workhouse, 352, 353, 334, 361

Stowlangtofi Hall, enlargement, 45

Stowmarket, King’s Head Inn,
alterations, 248

~, Victoria Road, pottery kiln, 1-12, P/

Stowupland, Iron Age/Roman pottery
finds, 9

Stradbroke, Broadend Farm, 285

— —, Farmhouse, visited, 288

-, Deer Park, 288

-, ‘Doggetts’, visited, 288

Stratford St Andrew, finds, 376

~~ -, fragment of socketed axe, 262

~——, gold coins, 376

Stratification in church walls, 298, P/
xXxu

Stratton Hall, flint axc, 376

- -, flint and pottery finds, 157

Stronde, Roesia, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 335

Suckling, Revd Alfred, historian, 118

Sudbourne, Anglo-Saxon sites, 378

-, Hall, site of; 86

—, Roman site, 378

Sudbury, cxcavations in garden of
Stour House, Gregory Street,
162--3, illus 163

-, organ at, 20

—, Walnut Tree Lane excavations, 275,
277

-, ‘weaving’ combs and buttons
excavated, 162-3, illus 163

Sufficld (alias Calthorpe), Walter of, 99

Suffolk, Duke of, swan-mark, 144

-, Earls of, 399

-, William dc¢ Ufford, Earl of, 115,
169, 316

Suffolk Excavation Index, 179-85

Surrey, Earl of, swan-mark, 144

Sutton, 144

=, bronze horse harness pendant, 63,
tllus 64

-, finds, 635

—, Sutton Hoo excavations, 181, 184,
185, 277, 389

~ — —, site excavations: 1988: 76-7,
1989: 1634, 1990: 277, 1991: 389,
PV

418

—— -, visited, 89, Pl V

Swan family, of Walsham-le-Willows,
336

Swan-marks, 143, 144, P/ VII

Swan-upper for the river Deben,
143-3, PL VI

Swavesby (Cambs), Prior of] 99, 100

Swyft, William, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 331

Swylpot, Stephen, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 329

Sylcham, 122

Syre family, of Walsham-le-Willows,
334,335

T

Taillour family, 327, 336

Tailors’ and Clothworkers’ Company
of Ipswich, 125

Tasburgh, Sir John, 68

Tattingstone, workhouse, 353, 333,
356, 358, 361, 362, 363

Tendring Hall, Stoke-by-Nayland, 167

Terracotta plaques in St John’s Manor,
Battisford, 170-1, Ps Xa & b

Terre family, of Nayland, 169

Terwald, John, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 332, 334, 336

Thacker, Elias, separatist, 214, 215

Thamar Organ at Framlingham,
18-30, illus 22, 23, 26, Pls 111, IV

Theberton, 103, 106

—, manor, 303

Thelnetham, Alice de, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 336

Thelnetham, bronze strap-end
fragment, 376

Theodoric, 95

Thetford, Cluniac Priory, 20, 21, 27

~, Priory, Norman mouldings, 302

Thetford-type ware, 70, 266, 372, 375,
376, 386

Thorington, Iron Age & Roman
settlement site excavated, 389

-, pottery scatters, 389

-, Roman road from Hacheston to
Wenbhaston, 389

Thorndon, All Saints church visited,
87

Thorndon (Essex), 339

Thorne, John, of Beccles, 32, 34

Thornhill, Sir James, 340, 341, 346n,
347n

Thorpe family, of Ashwellthorpe, 19

— -, Arms, 150, illus 152

~,John de, 150

Thorpe Moricux, bronze axe, 135

——, coin, 63

Thorpe (ness), 102, 103, 104, 105, 107,
109, 110, 111,112



Thorington Hall, Stoke-by-Nayland,
167

Thrandeston, Goswald Hall, 397

-, Roman pottery and tile finds, 262

Thurston, St Peter’s church restoration
and rebuilding, 47, 52

Thwaite, pottery scatter, 262

Tidal-river fishing, 109, 110

Tiles inscribed, at Ixworth, 13-17, #lus
14, PL1I

Tilney, Agnes, 19, 21

-, Elizabeth, 19

—, Hugh, of Boston (Lincs), 19

-, Sir Frederick of Ashwellthorpe, 19

—, Sir Philip, of Boston (Lincs), 19

Tilny, arms, 117

Timperley family, of Hintlesham, 174

Todd, Richard, of Beccles, lunatic, 33,
37,42

Tomline, Col George, 82

Tooley Foundation, Ipswich, 124

-, Henry, ‘Great Tooley of Ipswich’,
285

Tree of life, carving at Wordwell, 367,
368, Pl XXVIIa

Trimley St Martin, bronze scal matrix,
376

———, coin, 155

———, gold ‘hair-ring’, 376, illus 375

- — -, - pennanular ring, 155

Truelove, William, treasurer of Nacton
workhouse, 357

Tuddenham St Martin, bronze head of
Bacchus and other finds, 155

- - —, coins, 376

———, finds, 65

Tunstall Forest, 378

Tunstead and Happing Incorporation
(Norf), financing of workhouse,
353

Turbe, William Bishop, 95

Turnor, Edward, of Bury St Edmunds,
213

Turnpike Trustss, financing of, 354

Typtot family, of Walsham-le-Willows,
332, 333, 334, 336

Tyrel, Sir Thomas, of Heron in East
Horndon (Essex), 170

Tyrrell, Sir Thomas, of Gipping, 143

-, Joan, wifc of Sir Thomas, 143

-,John, of Gipping, 143

-, Sir John, of Gipping, 143

—, Sir William, Master of Battisford
Preceptory, 170

1)

Ubancke, Edward, of Bury St
Edmunds, 219

Uffington church (Salop), 213

Ufford family, 86

-, Arms, 117, 119
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-, Earls of Suffolk, 399

-, Robert de, dissociated with
Brundish chantry, 287

-, William de, Earl of Suffolk, 113,
169, 316

-, ficldwalking, 70

-, inds, 133, 157

-, Park, Anglo-Saxon burials, 157

-, St Mary’s church, visited, 85-6

Ugglcbarnby (Yorks), All Saints
church, pews, 2514, Pl XX]

Ulveston Hall, Decbenham, visited, 283

—, manor, Debenham, 285

Upsher, William, of Hadleigh, 132n

Urchfont (Wilts) church, 45

v

Vaughan, Theophilus, 39

Vernon, Edward Admiral, 83, 153,
136, 335

Viking Ringerike-style plaque from
Shotley, 64, illus 61

Villiers, George, Duke of Buckingham,
138

-, Sir George, father of George Duke
of Buckingham and of Susan, 138

~, Susan, daughter of Sir George, 137

Vyal, Thomas, of Ixworth, 13, 14

w

Wade, William, of Beccles, butcher, 37

Walberswick, 103, 104, 106, 112

-, organ at, 20

Waldegrave family, 225, 283

-, George, of Hilcham, 201, 202, 283

-, Sir George, of Hitcham, 192, 193,
201, 283

Waldringfield, bronze brooches and
coins, 262

-, brooch fragment, 65

-, coins and other finds, 156

-, gilt bronze disc fragments, 262

Walpole, Elm Farm, 288

Walsham-lc-Willows, Black Dcath in,
316-37

- - -, bronze scal matrix, 156

———, Cranmer Farm, 328

~——, 14th century land transactions,
323

- -, fragment of bronze roundel or
pendant, 156, illus 149

— — -, silver triangular dress fitting,
156, illus 152

—, High Hall manor, 316, 322, 324,
325, 326

-, manor, 316, 322, 324, 325, 326

—, manor courts, 316

de Walsham family, 324

Walsingham (Norf), lead ampulla, 258

—, Prior of, 98

419

Walton (Felixstowe), 104, 108, 110

—, Alston fleet, 110

-, manor, 110

Wangford deanery, 303

-, earthen banks/warren barriers, 65

-, finds, 65

—, Hundred, 303

-, Incorporation, financing of
workhouse, 352, 254

- -, Parliamentary Submission, 360

-, lead seal matrix, 377

Ward, John, Bury preacher, 219

Ward & Hughes, stained/painted glass
windows by, 48

Warde family, of Walsham-le-Willows,
336

Warden Abbey (Beds), 289

Warren barriers, 63

Warren, Nathaniel, 232

Wastell, John, Bury master mason
working at Cavendish, Long
Melford and Nayland, 168

Wattisficld, bronze broochcs, 262

~ =, horse-harness pendant, 156

-, excavations, 179, 181, 182

Wauncy family, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 336

Wederton (Witherton), Richard, of
Hitcham, 197, 198, 199

—,Joanna, wife of Richard, 199

Wells, Mr, of Dickleburgh (Norf),
builder, 50

Wenhaston, bronze medallion re
Admiral Vernon, 156

-, coins, 377

-, finds, 156

Westhall church, consecration plaque,
307

- -, development, 297-3153, plans 298,
306, 308, ilus 299, 301, 307, Pls
XX, XX, XXIVa, b, XXV

~—, Holy Trinity emblem: on roof
boss, 308; on north porch, 312

— -, visited, 393

-, Hall manor, 304, 305

-, map of glebe land in 1316, 309

-, map of parish, 303

-, market, 305

-, St Christopher wallpainting, 304

-, wills, 313

West, Stanley E, excavations, 183, 184

West Stow Anglo-Saxon village,
visited, 172

——, Beeches Pit, excavations, 278

- -, church, Norman north doorway,
368, PL XXV

- - -, cxcavations, 181, 182, 184, 278

~—, Hall, 195

~~, Heath, Roman pottery kilns
excavated, 182

West Sulfolk Hospital, Bury St
Edmunds, enlargement, 45
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Wetherden, 16th century organ
builder at, 20

Wetheringsett, finds, 65-6

-, seal matrix of pelican in her picty,
377

Weybourne (Norf'), Prior of, 98, 99

Weybread, pottery, tile and kiln
scatters, and lava quern, 156-7, 379

-, pottery kiln sites, 379

Wharton, Richard, 68

Whepstead, coin, 377

Wherstead, ditches associated with
cropmark complex, sectioned, 381

-, excavations on Bourne Hill, 164

—, site of Iron Age settlement, 381-2

Whettell, William, 135, 136, 140, 141n

White, Edward, of Bury St Edmunds,
215

Whiting, Mr, of Crowfield, builder, 48

Whitton, coins, 377

Wickham Market, All Saints church
restoration, 50, 53

- -, piracy, 108

Wickham, William rector of Ampton, 83

Wicklewood (Norf ), workhouse, 353,
358, 361

Willingham, 311

Willisham, 337n

-, brooches, 377

Willoughby family, of Parham, 86,
399, 400

—, Sir Christopher, of Parham, 399

Wilson, Henry of Stowlangtoft, 45

Wingficld Castle, 122

——, location map, 121

—, organ at, 28n

Wingfield, Sir Anthony, 401

-, Harbottle, 291

-, Sir John, 122

Wissctt church, apse, 300

- -, Norman north doorway, 298

-, flint axe, 66

Witham (Essex), 339

Withers, George, Bury preacher, 210,
213

Withersfield, bronze axe, 377

Witnesham, coins, 377

Wixoe, Roman pottery vessels from
cremation, 262-3, illus 263

Wodcbite family, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 325, 336

Wollaston, Col, 356

Wolnard, Edmund, boat owner, 106

-, John, skipper, 107 -

Woodbridge, 106

-, Belgic pottery sherds, 66

-, bronze spearhcad, 263

-, lead scal matrix, 263

-, St John’s church, 2434, 246, PI
XVIb

Woolpit, brickworks site visited, 398

-, bronze socketed axe blades, 263,
377

-, Lady’s Well, 398

-, lead ampulla, 377

—, bulla, 377

-, pottery scatter, 157

-, St Mary’s church visited, 399

Woolverstone, bronze disc brooch and
other finds, 263

-, coin, 377

-, lead scal matrix, 263

-, tile kiln, 377

Wordwell church, Norman doorways,
367, 368, Pls XXVIle & b, XXVIila

Workhouses in East Anglia, 351-65

420

Worlington, gold stater, 66

~, leaf-shaped microlith point, 377

Worlingworth Hall, 288

Wormald, James, of Bury St
Edmunds, master woodcarver, 48,
251, 253

Wratting, Great, gold finger-rings
found at Maltings Farmhouse, 55-7

Wrecked goods, 107, 108

Wrentham churches, 304

Wright, Edward, vicar of Pakenham,
137

Wyatt, James, architect, 82

—,John Drayton, architect, 48

Wymer, John, excavations, 181, 183

Wymondham (Norf ) Abbey, Norman
mouldings, 302

Wyndham, Lady Christabel, 345

Wyndilgard, Elyanora, of Walsham-le-
Willows, 330

Wyther, Edmund, of Bury St
Edmunds, haberdasher, 214, 215

-, William, of Walsham-le-Willows,
336

Y

Yare Vallcy sculpture, 302, 303

Yarmouth, Great, 103, 104, 105,
106, 108, 109, 110, 111, 112, 113,
340

- —, 19th century development, 238

- —, public buildings, 246

—, haven, 122

Yarmouth, Little, turnpike trust, 354

Yenn, John (1750-1821), architect, 45

Young, Arthur, agriculturalist, 356,
360



